DISSERTATION

THE PHOSPHATASE PTP-3 REGULATES AMPA RECEPTOR TRANSPORT IN CAENORHABDITIS ELEGANS

Submitted by

Dayton Pierce

Graduate Degree Program in Cell and Molecular Biology

In partial fulfillment of the requirements

For the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Colorado State University

Fort Collins, Colorado

Summer 2021

Doctoral Committee:

Advisor: Frederic Hoerndli

Seonil Kim Taiowa Montgomery Leslie Stone-Roy Copyright by Dayton Pierce 2021

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

THE PHOSPHATASE PTP-3 REGULATES AMPA RECEPTOR TRANSPORT IN CAENORHABDITIS ELEGANS

Glutamate mediates the majority of excitatory neurotransmission by activating the α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) subtype of ionotropic glutamate receptors. AMPAR trafficking, which includes local synaptic trafficking and long-distance transport, can be one of many cellular pathways important for cognition. Since the majority of AMPARs are made at the cell body, this exerts a challenge on neurons to correctly transport receptors to often far-reaching synapses. To ensure correct synapse function, the interplay between long-distance AMPAR transport, delivery, removal, and retention need to be tightly regulated. However, how long-distance transport mechanisms communicate with local synaptic delivery and removal is unknown. Previous work has shown a critical role for the receptor-type protein tyrosine phosphatase (RPTP) leukocyte common antigen-related protein (LAR), in regulating AMPAR numbers at synapses. However, these studies have not identified a mechanism for this process. Therefore, my thesis sets out to test how AMPAR transport impacts local synaptic trafficking and the role that the C. elegans homologue of vertebrate LAR, Protein Tyrosine Phosphatase 3A (PTP-3A), has on this regulatory pathway.

Chapter 1 is an introduction and its purpose is to provide background knowledge and scientific context for the main questions of my thesis.

ii

In Chapter 2, we investigate the question of how does glutamate receptor transport impact local synaptic glutamate receptor numbers. Tyrosine phosphorylation is known to play an important role in glutamate receptor trafficking at the synapse, but not much is known about tyrosine phosphorylation on glutamate receptor transport. The vertebrate phosphatase LAR is known to be important in glutamate receptor transmission in cell culture, but its role in glutamate receptor transport is unknown. Here we investigate the role of the sole C. elegans LAR-RPTP homologue, PTP-3A, on glutamate receptor transport and how this affects local synaptic delivery. We show that PTP-3A mutants display decreased transport as well as decreased delivery of Glutamate Receptor-1 (GLR-1) to synapses. Since PTP-3A is a large structure, 3 IgG domains, 9 fibronectin domains, and 2 phosphatase domains, we sought out to determine what domains were necessary for GLR-1 transport. Domain analysis of LAR revealed that the phosphatase domain is not required for GLR-1 transport but is required to stabilize GLR-1 at synapses. Surprisingly, the Ig-like external domains are sufficient to cell-specifically rescue GLR-1 transport. Interestingly, LAR mutants exhibit decreased short-term and long-term memory whereas mutants lacking the phosphatase domain only show decreased long-term memory. This could be due to a mechanism where efficient GLR-1 transport is sufficient to sustain the synaptic receptor pool during short-term synaptic activity, but stabilization of GLR-1 at synapses is required long-term consolidation. Taken together, our results show a critical role of LAR in long-distance synaptic AMPAR transport.

Chapter 3 seeks to identify a role of a known regulator of vertebrate LAR, liprin- α , in glutamate receptor transport. Vertebrate liprin- α is known to bind LAR and correctly localize it to synapses. Previously, the *C. elegans* sole liprin- α homologue, SYD-2, has

only been identified as a regulator of active zone maintenance presynaptically. However, vertebrate liprin- α is known to colocalize with postsynaptic proteins such as PSD-95, GRIP-1, LAR, and GluA2. Since LAR and liprin- α colocalize at the synapse, we reasoned that this interaction might happen in *C. elegans* as well and that SYD-2 might be in the same regulatory pathway as PTP-3A. Therefore, we asked if loss of SYD-2 would cause a defect in GLR-1 localization *in vivo* in *C. elegans*. We show that loss of SYD-2 leads to ~1.5-fold increase in GLR-1 transport but has a ~70% reduction in synaptic and surface GLR-1. This leads to an interesting model where synaptic activity might not be directly correlated with GLR-1 transport. Also, our data suggest that SYD-2 might have additional synaptic roles other than correctly localizing PTP-3A.

Finally, Chapter 4 aims to discuss the impact of the data I have generated in my thesis and how experiments from each chapter complement each other and how these have opened new experimental paths.

Overall, the work in my dissertation expands on the limited knowledge of how AMPAR transport and synaptic trafficking interact to control synaptic AMPAR numbers. It furthers our knowledge of the role of the phosphatase PTP-3A/LAR in regulating excitatory synaptic maintenance. It also challenges the idea which recent studies have shown that correlates decreased synaptic activity with decreased AMPAR transport. Altogether, it outlines the general importance of understanding how AMPAR transport relates to synaptic plasticity and behavior.

iv

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

If you look up the definition of homebody in the dictionary, you will find a picture of me. Six years ago, I took a leap of faith, leaving my friends and family to chase a dream, which was no easy task. Along this journey, each person that has come into my life has helped me in one way or another. However, I want to take the time to personally thank everyone who has helped me immensely:

First, I would like to thank everyone in the Hoerndli lab, past and present. Rachel, we have been through ups and downs between cloning and deciphering Fred's interpretations of words. Thank you for keeping me on my toes and keeping a lighthearted lab environment. Fred, I knew when I joined a new lab it would be no easy task. I do not think I fully grasped this concept at the beginning, but I am thankful you saw the potential in me. I know I was more stubborn than what you had probably envisioned your first student would be, but ultimately you molded me into the scientist I am today which I cannot thank you enough.

My advisory committee, Chuck Henry, Seonil Kim, Leslie Stone-Roy, and Tai Montgomery for supporting me along my journey.

Everyone in the CMB program, I want to thank you for the support system that you have provided for me. Carol, you have seen and helped me through my Master's and now my PhD. Kailee, for helping me close down the bar on each recruitment weekend. Katy, for always indulging in my coffee meetups and letting me rant about life. I will miss you all.

To all my friends back home that I talk to each day, Tovey for being my tribemate, Josh for being my captain, and Ray for being the brother I never had. You guys have helped me more than you know, and I cannot wait to come back home.

To my parents, Mike and Tammy, my grandma Beverely, my sister Heather and brother-in-law Jose, my nieces Addison and Aubree, my in-laws Patti and Brian, for always believing in me and what I am capable of achieving.

Finally, the reason that I took this leap of faith. To the girl with the bow in her hair and destiny in her eyes. Mackenzie, you are the reason I am here today completing my PhD. You have supported me the whole way even in stressful times of your own. You are the only support I need and together we are unstoppable.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
CHAPTER 1: Introduction	1
1.1 Learning and memory in <i>C. elegans</i>	1
1.2 Excitatory neurotransmission	4
1.2.1 <i>C. elegans</i> neural network	4
1.3 Synaptic plasticity	6
1.3.1 Short-term synaptic plasticity	6
1.4 Glutamate receptors	7
1.4.1 AMPA receptors	9
1.4.2 Long-term depression (LTD)	11
1.4.3 Long-term potentiation (LTP)	13
1.4.4 AMPAR trafficking and transport	16
1.5 LAR/PTP-3 family of phosphatases	20
1.5.1 Presynaptic role of LAR/PTP-3 family of phosphatases	22
1.5.2 Postsynaptic role of LAR/PTP-3 family of phosphatases	24
1.6 Thesis work	26
CHAPTER 2: A Dual Role for LAR/PTP-3 in Regulating Long-distance AMPAR Transport and Synaptic Retention Essential for Long-Term Associative Memory ¹	28
2.1 Summary	28
2.2 Introduction	29
2.3 Results	32
2.3.1 The largest isoform of PTP-3, PTP-3A, modulates GLR-1 transport	32
2.3.2 PTP-3A modulates synaptic number of GLR-1 receptors	36
2.3.3 PTP-3A is necessary for olfactory associative memory but not learning	41
2.3.4 PTP-3A is necessary for both delivery and retention of GLR-1 at synapses	44
2.3.5 Differential roles of PTP-3A N-terminal and C-terminal domains in regulating GLF transport and synaptic retention	र-1 49
2.4 Discussion	54
2.4.1 Cell specific regulation of GLR-1/AMPAR transport by PTP-3A/LAR-RPTP	56
2.4.2 Regulation of local synaptic GLR-1 levels by PTP-3A/LAR-RPTP	59

2.4.2. A model for accretination of AMDAD transport and expension maintenance	60
2.4.3 A model for coordination of AMPAR transport and synaptic maintenance	
2.4.4 How AMPAR transport and synaptic retention affects learning and memory	64
2.5 Materials and Methods	65
2.5.1 <i>C. elegans</i> culture and strains	65
2.5.2 <i>C. elegans</i> transgenes	65
2.5.3 Plasmids and cloning	66
2.5.4 Confocal Imaging	66
2.5.5 Short-term and long-term associative olfactory memory	68
2.5.6 Image analysis	69
2.5.7 Statistical Analyses	70
2.6 Author Contributions	70
CHAPTER 3: The role of SYD-2 in postsynaptic AMPAR transport and synaptic	
plasticity	71
3. Summary	71
3.1 Introduction	71
3.2 Main findings	73
3.2.1 Loss of SYD-2 causes decreased synaptic GLR-1 numbers	73
3.2.2 Loss of SYD-2 increases AMPAR transport	75
3.2.3 SYD-2 is required for synaptic stabilization of AMPARs	76
3.3 Discussion and future directions	78
3.4 Materials and Methods	84
3.4.1 <i>C. elegans</i> culture and strains	84
3.4.2 <i>C. elegans</i> transgenes	84
3.5 Confocal Imaging	84
CHAPTER 4: Overall conclusion and future directions	85
Bibliography	96

CHAPTER 1: Introduction

1.1 Learning and memory in *C. elegans*

This first chapter is an introduction with background knowledge needed to understand the fundamental premise of my thesis. This is not meant to be an exhaustive review, but it sets the framework for my thesis with key pieces of information in both the vertebrate and *Caenorhabditis elegans* (*C. elegans*) field of study.

In 1965, Eric Kandel and colleagues made a significant step towards showing that studying the nervous systems of invertebrates had significant potential to understand learning and memory, enabling the discovery of key proteins in synaptic plasticity using the mollusk *Aplysia californica*¹. Around this same time, Sydney Brenner began studying neural development in the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans* (*C. elegans*) which now has a well-established and well understood nervous system². *C. elegans* is a simple model organism that is small in size (~1mm), has a short life cycle (<3 days egg to adult), and is easy and inexpensive to house. In an adult hermaphrodite, there are 302 neurons. Coupled with its transparent cuticle, this makes it an ideal model to study neuronal processes by using fluorescent tags and microscopy³. Although a simple model organism, many of the key proteins involved in vertebrate learning and memory are conserved in *C. elegans* which allows for these molecular mechanisms to be studied in an intact nervous system *in vivo*⁴.

C. elegans learning and memory can be divided into associative and nonassociative learning. The first form of learning and memory in worms was discovered in 1990 where Rankin and colleagues studied the tap-withdrawal response (TWR)⁵. This form of nonassociative learning is a behavior where worms crawl backward in response

to a mechanical stimulus generated by tapping the plate containing the worms. Repeated tap stimulus decreases the amplitude and frequency of the response. Thus, the stimulus impacts how far the worms crawl backward and how often they respond, respectively. These studies of habituation found key neurons important in learning and memory. Furthermore, these studies laid the foundation for the discovery of *C. elegans* associative learning which is a higher order form of learning and memory.

Associative memory was first made famous by Ivan Pavlov who showed that an uncontrolled stimulus (US) triggers an uncontrolled response (UR). A neutral conditioned stimulus (CS), can be paired with an US and with repeated attempts, the neutral CS will now elicit a conditioned response (CR)⁶. C. elegans has an associative memory mechanism that is similar to what Pavlov observed and exhibits a remarkable capacity to learn and remember environmental features that predict good food, no food, or even aversive stimuli⁴. Worms will move towards volatile organic compounds released by their bacterial food source of which one potent chemoattractant is diacetyl. Morrison and colleagues showed that worms could learn to avoid the diacetyl if previously presented with an aversive solution⁷. A simple experimental design based off that study is showed in **Figure 1.1**: in a naïve state, worms will naturally be drawn to the diacetyl over a control odor. To begin the experimental test for learning, 1) worms are placed on a plate with no food but a drop of diacetyl on the top of the lid so they can smell the diacetyl, but cannot reach it, for one hour. Within this hour, they begin to associate starvation to the smell of diacetyl. 2) They are then transferred to an experimental plate with diacetyl and a control. If they have learned the association of starvation to the smell of diacetyl, they will travel away from the diacetyl and towards the control odor. To test for short-term memory, the



same procedure is followed except after the one-hour conditioning, worms are placed on a normal plate with food for one hour. These worms are then placed on an experimental plate and if they have remembered the association of starvation to the smell of diacetyl, they will travel towards the control odor.

The establishment of memory experiments in worms led to many candidate-driven approaches to establish a core mechanism of associative memory in *C. elegans*⁴. As will be discussed in **chapters 1.3** and **1.4**, many of the critical proteins responsible in vertebrate learning and memory are conserved and important in *C. elegans* learning and memory^{8–14}.

1.2 Excitatory neurotransmission

Glutamate mediates the majority of fast excitatory transmission in the brain by activating postsynaptic glutamate receptors. The dysregulation of this neurotransmission is known to be a main component of neurodegenerative diseases, as well as impaired learning and memory¹⁵. Upon presynaptic depolarization reaching the nerve terminal, packets of the neurotransmitter glutamate are dumped into the synaptic cleft which bind to postsynaptic receptors which allow for the influx of positively charged ions, mainly Na⁺ and Ca^{2+ 16}. Each neuron has thousands of synaptic connections that receive both positive and negative inputs, and it is the culmination of all these inputs that determine whether the neuron will depolarize and thus propagate its signal to postsynaptic targets. Since glutamate receptors are known to be a key factor in this signal propagation which underlies learning and memory, which is an evolutionarily conserved mechanism, it is critical to understand how neurons regulate synaptic glutamate receptor numbers.

1.2.1 C. elegans neural network

C. elegans is a very simple model organism which is why its neuronal anatomy is one of the most well understood among all model organisms. Although considerable time could be spent to discussing each neuron's fate and function, I will be focusing on the neurons that are critical in my thesis work.

Most of the glutamatergic signaling in worms is governed by the command interneurons AVA, AVB, AVD, AVE, and PVC, which control forward and backward movement. The AVA interneurons are a central component of the withdrawal response to noxious stimuli (as outlined in **Figure 1.2**)¹⁷ and the activation of this pathway is highly dependent on glutamate receptors (glutamate receptors discussed more in **Chapter**

1.4)¹⁸. Interestingly, the AVA interneurons are critical for the expression of long-term memory (LTM). Indeed, disrupting presynaptic glutamate input onto AVA or deletion of glutamate receptors in AVA is enough to abolish LTM¹⁹. The establishment that glutamate receptors are required for LTM as an evolutionarily conserved mechanism make it possible to study the molecular pathways that regulate this behavior in a simpler system.



Figure 1.2: *C. elegans* neural control of forward and backward movement. Connectivity between command interneurons (hexagons) and motor neurons (circles). Lines with triangles represent chemical synapses and lines with blunt ends represent gap junctions. Neurons in blue are responsible in the forward movement pathway while neurons in red are responsible in backward movement. The VB, VA, and VD neurons innervate ventral body-wall synapses. Adapted from de Bono *et. al.*, 2005.

1.3 Synaptic plasticity

One of the most fascinating aspects of the brain is its plasticity, which is the capability for a neural activity to modify neural circuit function and thereby modify feelings, behavior, and memory²⁰. Synaptic plasticity refers to the activity-dependent modification of the efficacy of synaptic transmission at preexisting synapses and has been observed at virtually all synapses in organisms ranging from worms to mammals²⁰. The concept of plasticity was pioneered by Donald Hebb in 1950 when he found, "an often repeated specific stimulation [at synapses] will give rise to the slow development of a diffuse structure²¹." The idea behind this finding was that repeated synaptic stimulation causes the postsynapse to increase in size to house more proteins that are critical in strengthening the transmission between pre and postsynaptic cells. Increasing the postsynaptic spine is not an energy favorable mechanism, however, which is why synaptic plasticity is not an all-or-none process. There is a form of short-term plasticity where the postsynaptic cell determines if the increase in input from the presynaptic cell is coincidence or an increase in activity.

1.3.1 Short-term synaptic plasticity

Long-lasting plasticity is largely a postsynaptic process, but the most common form of short-term plasticity is presynaptic. Most presynaptic terminals have receptors that control the probability of neurotransmitter release and depending on the type of receptor, can either depress or enhance synaptic transmission and thus acts as a feedforward pathway. However, synaptic transmission can be bidirectional. Indeed, upon activation, postsynaptic cells can release neuromodulators, such as serotonin and dopamine, that influence the characteristics of the presynaptic receptors and acts as a feedback pathway.

In many cases, presynaptic activation via neuromodulators act to decrease the release probability of neurotransmitters^{20,22}. In a review, Abbot and Regehr stated that, "synaptic plasticity assures that current activity [across a synapse] reflects both the current and previous history of activity within the neural circuit²²." The neural circuit is defined as an ensemble of neurons that the brain uses to encode external and internal events as spatio-temporal patterns of activity. The mechanism described by Abbot and Regehr roughly translates to a mechanism where the presynaptic cell can "prime" a synapse depending on what type of signal it has received previously so it can respond accordingly to incoming signals. In this model, short-term plasticity can be thought of as a trial period to determine if long-term restructuring of the connection between pre and postsynapse should occur, acting as a check point for long-term plasticity.

1.4 Glutamate receptors

Glutamate receptors are a critical component of my thesis as they are fundamental in understanding the process of learning and memory. Although knowing the biochemical properties of glutamate receptors is important in understanding their function, I will only briefly describe some of these properties since my thesis work did not revolve around the physics of receptor function. Within the glutamate receptor family in vertebrates exists three main classes of ionotropic receptors, the N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor the non-NMDA receptor subtypes α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4type, of isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) and kainate receptors, with a fourth lesser known δ glutamate receptor^{23–25}. All receptors are composed of four large subunits: the extracellular amino-terminal domain (ATD), the extracellular ligand-binding domain (LBD), a transmembrane domain (TMD), and an intracellular carboxyl-terminal domain

(CTD). They assemble as tetrameric subunits and are formed by assembly of subunits within the same functional receptor.



NMDARs are glutamate-gated ion channels that are critical in excitatory neurotransmission. There is extensive literature on the critical role of NMDARs in synaptic plasticity which I will not be detailing since my thesis work is primarily on AMPARs. In the next two paragraphs, I will outline the basic properties of NMDARs and metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluRs) respectively. There are three subunits, NR1-3, that form heteromers with differing physiological properties. Synaptic depolarization has two initial components which include a fast AMPAR activation and a slower NMDAR activation. This slower activation is due to NMDARs containing a pore loop that is blocked by a Mg²⁺ ion during steady state. Opening of receptors requires a strong enough depolarization to

relieve the Mg²⁺ block and allow for an influx of Ca²⁺ (**Figure 1.3**). Activation of NMDARs is responsible for the large amount of intracellular Ca²⁺ and is essential in long-lasting synaptic plasticity²³. Upon NMDAR activation, many downstream signaling proteins are activated, which include the metabotropic class of glutamate receptors (mGluRs).

mGluRs are G-protein coupled glutamate receptors that contain an extracellular N-terminal domain (termed the Venus flytrap domain VFD), seven transmembranespanning domains, and an intracellular C-terminus²⁶. There are three groups of mGluRs with group I often localized postsynaptically and activation leads to cell depolarization. Upon glutamate binding, the G-protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) cascade leads to calcium mobilization and activation of multiple downstream signals, two of importance are protein kinase C (PKC) and components of the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK). These pathways have been heavily implicated in learning and memory and knockout studies of mGluR1 show reduced induction of LTP in mice hippocampal slices²⁷. This phenotype is region specific however, as mGluR1 deficiency in the cerebellum leads to deficits in LTD due to regression of cerebellar Purkinje neurons^{28,29}.

1.4.1 AMPA receptors

The last major class of glutamate receptors are AMPARs which contain four subunits (GluA1-4) and are assembled as dimers-of-dimers and form hetero-tetrameric receptors³⁰. The four subunits are highly homologous with 70% amino acid identity with conserved extracellular and transmembrane domains³¹. Receptors are assembled in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) where correct subunit assembly is tightly regulated³². The GluA2 subunit has the most impact on biophysical properties since AMPARs lacking GluA2 are Ca²⁺ permeable. AMPARs that contain GluA2 are largely Ca²⁺ impermeable

(>99%) owing to a unique arginine (R) at amino acid position 607 that is RNA edited from a glutamine (Q) often labeled as Q/R editing^{33,34}. This unique glutamine is located in the pore loop of the subunit and editing changes the neutral charged glutamine to a positively charged arginine which opposes the strongly positively charged Ca²⁺. RNA editing not only controls channel conductance, but efficient exit from the ER as well. Unedited GluA2 rapidly traffics through the ER and edited GluA2 is mostly retained in the ER. However, if edited GluA2 is assembled with GluA1, it traffics rapidly through the ER³⁵.

AMPARs are largely located in excitatory neurons and enriched at the postsynaptic site. Since AMPARs mediate a large majority of excitatory synaptic transmission, changes in the number of receptors at a given synapse can influence the efficacy of this transmission. Receptors are not static and have a surface half-life of tens of minutes³⁶, and depending on the pattern of neuronal activity, they will shuttle into or out of the synapse which can lead to long lasting changes in synaptic strength³⁷. Upon glutamate binding, the receptor undergoes a conformational shift that opens the pore and allows the influx of Na⁺ ions which in turn can depolarize the postsynaptic compartment³⁸. This depolarization leads to multiple cascades that contribute to LTP (discussed later) such as the alleviation of the Mg²⁺ block of the NMDA receptor which allows for a large influx of Ca²⁺ in the postsynaptic compartment^{39,40}. Increased intracellular Ca²⁺ caused from high frequency stimulation causes a cascade of downstream protein activation that is dependent on the amount of Ca²⁺; one such effect is controlling the number of surface synaptic AMPARs^{41–43}.

Although vertebrate models have provided a plethora of information in the AMPAR field, the lack of inexpensive genetic techniques coupled with the complexity of the

vertebrate nervous system has led to many holes in our understanding. By using a simpler model such as *C. elegans* which only possess 302 neurons in an adult hermaphrodite, these obstacles can somewhat be overcome. There are at least 10 presumed ionotropic glutamate receptors expressed in *C. elegans*. These include GLR-1 – GLR-8 members of the non-NMDA class which are most similar to AMPA or kainate receptors and the two NMDA subunits, NMR-1 and NMR-2, which belong to the NR1 and NR2A subfamilies^{18,44}. *C. elegans* ionotropic glutamate receptor subunits show high amino acid sequence similarities to vertebrate ionotropic glutamate receptors. Sequence alignment shows the highest conservation in areas of importance such as the transmembrane segments, pore region, and ligand-binding domain⁴⁴. Also, C-terminal amino acid sequences that are responsible in receptor gating and receptor localization are highly conserved between *C. elegans* and vertebrates. Therefore, using a simpler model organism such as *C. elegans* confers benefits to studying regulatory properties of AMPARs.

Correctly regulated AMPAR synaptic expression is a tightly regulated mechanism and almost any defect in the control of correct AMPAR localization can have dire consequences on brain function. Most neurodegenerative and neurological disorders, such as Schizophrenia and Alzheimer's, involve synaptic malfunction that can be linked to AMPAR abnormalities⁴⁵. Indeed, neurons that have increased seizure predisposition downregulate GluA2 subunit expression. This loss of GluA2-containing AMPARs leads to the increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ and thus have increased excitability and excitotoxicity⁴⁶. Therefore, it is critical that we understand the regulatory mechanisms that underly correct AMPAR localization as it pertains to neurological and neurodegenerative diseases.

1.4.2 Long-term depression (LTD)

Although a lasting increase in synaptic transmission is often thought of as learning, weakening of synapses is also a form of learning. Long-term depression (LTD) is a process that weakens synapses depending on the molecular state of the synapse. There is evidence that a reduction in the probability of glutamate release can induce LTD which can be triggered by changes in the presynaptic terminal or retrograde messengers sent from postsynapses⁴⁷. LTD is dependent on weak NMDAR activation that leads to low intracellular Ca²⁺ and can be induced by prolonged periods of low-frequency stimulation. This allows for LTD specific proteins that have high affinity to low Ca²⁺ levels to induce removal of surface AMPARs⁴⁸. What is the purpose then of this lasting decrease in synaptic potentiation? Although this answer is still debated, it is known that LTD is required for hippocampus-dependent learning and memory. In a study where the NMDAR subunit GluN2B was selectively ablated and resulted in impaired LTD, also resulted in deficits in learning and memory tasks⁴⁹. Disrupting key proteins that are responsible in LTD such as calcineurin and PP2A also impairs episodic memory which is the ability to recall and mentally reexperience specific episodes from one's personal past^{50,51}. Interestingly, when the phosphatase PP2A is inhibited and mice are subjected to a hidden platform Morris water maze regime over 17 days, the mutant mice learn to swim to the new platform location just as efficiently as the wild-type but the time it takes for them to acquire the new location is severely decreased⁵². This suggested to the authors that NMDAR-dependent LTD may have a role in behavioral flexibility which refers to how animals learn to adapt their behavior to their varying environments⁵³.

There exists a second form of LTD that is mGluR activation-dependent that stimulates a similar cascade as the NMDAR-dependent form but seems to be synapse

type specific⁵⁴. The activation patterns of mGluR-LTD and NMDAR-LTD are generally similar but are synapse specific, for example in the cerebellum, mGluR-LTD causes a decrease in postsynaptic sensitivity to L-glutamate whereas in the hippocampus it is not associated with this reduction⁵⁵.

1.4.3 Long-term potentiation (LTP)

The most widely studied form of activity-dependent change of synaptic strength is Hebbian plasticity which includes LTP and LTD. LTP is a long-lasting increase in synaptic transmission elicited by repeated electrical stimulation and is the most widely accepted mechanism of memory storage and one of several different forms of long-term synaptic plasticity²⁵. Hebbian plasticity, compared to homeostatic plasticity, is confined to active synapses where synaptic strength change is input specific⁵⁶. The concept of LTP was first introduced by Bliss and Lomo in 1973 where they concluded that, "There exists at least one group of synapses in the hippocampus whose efficiency is influenced by activity which may have occurred several hours previously, a time scale long enough to be potentially useful for information storage⁵⁷." This translates to the conclusion that the longlasting change in synaptic activity they observed is due to an increase in the strength of synaptic transmission. Although this laid the foundation for the study of synaptic plasticity and memory, it outlined a very critical question: Is the change in synaptic strength due to an increase in pre-synaptic neurotransmitter release, or an increase in the postsynaptic response to the neurotransmitter? This question was difficult to answer at the time since the major excitatory neurotransmitter responsible for LTP, glutamate, would not be discovered until 20 years later. However, there were studies that showed LTP could be prevented by blocking postsynaptic depolarization even with high frequency presynaptic

stimulation^{58,59}. Once glutamate was determined to be the major excitatory neurotransmitter, it was found that it acted primarily on NMDARs and AMPARs. The interplay of activation between NMDAR and AMPARs is the basis for LTP induction.

As outlined in **Figure 1.3**, AMPAR activation causes an increase of intracellular Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ which depolarizes the postsynapse. This depolarization allows for the Mg²⁺ block within NMDARs to be removed and subsequently activated. LTP induction requires NMDAR activation which causes a large Ca²⁺ influx and activates Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CaMKII). Rapidly after CaMKII activation, there is a large increase in the number of synaptic AMPARs (**Figure 1.4**)^{60–62}. CaMKII is a very promiscuous protein which is why its precise mechanism in LTP is difficult to answer. However, it's known that CaMKII can phosphorylate Ser831 of GluA1 which increases its channel conductance and is required for LTP induction in certain brain regions⁶³. Another



important phosphorylation site on GluA1 is Ser845 which is governed by protein kinase A (PKA)⁶⁴. Ser845 phosphorylation promotes GluA1 surface insertion and synaptic retention whereas Ser845 dephosphorylation causes endocytosis of GluA1-containing AMPARs⁶³.

Not surprisingly, CaMKII phosphorylation of AMPAR accessory proteins has implications in LTP. AMPARs are largely associated with transmembrane AMPARregulatory proteins (TARPs) which have critical roles in AMPAR synaptic trafficking. Indeed, phosphorylation of the TARP stargazin serves as a chaperone for AMPARS in synaptic targeting and surface expression⁶⁵. The trafficking of AMPARs is a critical process in LTP induction and maintenance, which is why many of the proteins involved are evolutionarily conserved. Although the exact equivalent of LTP has not been determined in worms, the proteins responsible for correct AMPAR localization, that are important for LTP, are similar between vertebrates and worms. Therefore, by using a simpler model like *C. elegans* to understand the basics of AMPAR trafficking, a better understanding of higher order processes such as LTP can be obtained.

1.4.4 AMPAR trafficking and transport

Neurons are complex entities that employ a wide range of subcellular movements to move receptors throughout the cell. This encompasses local synaptic trafficking of receptors through dendritic ER and Golgi, diffusion at the surface of the plasma membrane, and long-distance transport from cell body to distal synapses⁶⁶. From here forward, I will use the term "synaptic trafficking of AMPARs" to indicate the local movement of receptors within and around the synapse. The term "transport" will indicate any movement of AMPARs that is kinesin or dynein dependent. The machinery used in and in-between these two processes are slightly different and need to communicate so that the end result of receptor localization is correct. The precise mechanisms as to how the cell signals for increased AMPAR transport, and how AMPAR-containing-vesicles pivot from long-distance kinesin/dynein-driven transport to local synaptic trafficking to the dendritic or synaptic surface are largely unknown.

AMPARs at the synapse are not static and are constantly recruited and dispersed from the surface to intracellular compartments^{62,67–71}. Matthew Kennedy and Michael Ehlers demonstrated that there exists an intracellular pool of AMPARs in endosomes that are readily available for exocytosis and that this receptor-containing endosome is mobilized to the spine during LTP^{69,72,73}. This pool can be populated from recycling

AMPARs or newly synthesized receptors⁷⁴. What are the signals that control whether receptors are expressed at the membrane surface or internalized? One key pathway is phosphorylation of the C-terminal tail of AMPARs. Phosphorylation of S845 of GluA1 has shown to promote surface insertion and synaptic retention whereas dephosphorylation of S845 promotes receptor endocytosis⁶³. How are receptors then trafficked from intracellular pools to the surface? Although the precise mechanism is unknown, phosphorylation of GluA1 at S831 by calcium calmodulin-dependent kinase II (CaMKII) is thought to promote trafficking of AMPARs from extrasynaptic sites to the synapse⁶³. This would then require both S831 and S845 phosphorylation to traffic receptors from extrasynaptic pools to the cell surface.

Phosphorylation of postsynaptic proteins is a known regulatory element that influences synaptic plasticity. Indeed, tyrosine phosphorylation of the NR2B subunit of NMDARs enhances its function and is required for LTP. The GluA2 and GluA3 AMPAR subunits are phosphorylated upon activation and phosphorylation at GluA2 Y876 by Src kinase regulates basal synaptic GluA2 internalization from the surface. GRIP-1 is critical for the correct localization of GluA2-containing AMPARs and GluA2 Y876 phosphorylation increases this binding, establishing a possible mechanism of synaptic plasticity that regulates GluA2 localization within the synapse. Interestingly, phosphorylation at GluA2 Y876 is not required for LTP/LTD but is needed for homeostatic synaptic scaling⁷⁵.

Most neurons have long dendritic processes sometimes reaching lengths of tens of millimeters and thus are far removed from the cell body. This creates a challenge to supply synapses with the correct amount of AMPARs. Aside from a larger intracellular

pool, local translation of receptors is the quickest way to supply synapses with new AMPARs. Although there are polyribosomes at synapses, the number is relatively small, estimated one per dendritic shaft. Since it is thought that each polyribosome translates a single mRNA, this places time constraints on timing and diversity for local synthesis⁷⁶. Most AMPAR mRNA is located in the neuronal cell body and thus newly synthesized AMPARs need to be transported to their correct location⁷⁷. During synaptic activation, receptors that are critical in maintaining the activation are readily trafficked to the surface, while receptors that are not required are endocytosed and even degraded. This exhibits a need for a readily replenished intracellular pool of receptors since surface receptors need to be rapidly replaced.

Early studies hypothesized that lateral diffusion of AMPARs from the cell body to synapses was the predominant form of long-distance AMPAR trafficking⁷⁸. This study showed that receptors could diffuse to synapses in tens of seconds. However, LTP induction occurs much more rapidly than this, so although lateral diffusion is a method for supplying receptors to synapses, it cannot be the only form of long-distance trafficking⁷⁹. The main long-distance mode of transport cells utilize are the microtube-dependent motors kinesin and dynein. The idea that long-distance AMPAR transport can populate synapses has been known for 20 years^{80,81}. However, insight into the regulatory elements that could possibly control this were not understood until recently^{80,82–84}. A key aspect of my thesis was building on the work that the Maricq lab showed in 2013 and 2015. I will now briefly summarize these studies and a recent study by the Choquet lab in vertebrate cell culture supporting evolutionary conservation of regulated AMPAR transport as a mechanism to regulate excitatory synaptic transmission.

In 2013, Hoerndli and colleagues showed the importance of the kinesin motor KIF5 on long-distance AMPAR transport *in vivo* using *C. elegans*⁸⁵. Although there are 21 known kinesin-like motors in the *C. elegans* genome, only few have been studied in detail and only UNC-104/KIF1, KLP-4 (a kinesin-like protein similar to UNC104), and UNC-116/KIF5 are known to be expressed in the pair of AVA glutamatergic interneurons responsible for learning and memory in worms⁸⁶. A candidate driven approach was taken and it was found that only UNC-116 loss-of-function mutants showed decreased overall GLR-1 (GluA-1 homologue) transport. Not only was long-distance transport of AMPARs decreased in these mutants, but they also observed that transport of receptors from synapse to synapse was disrupted. Surprisingly, they observed that removal of GLR-1 from synapses was decreased in *unc-116* mutants. This result demonstrated that motordriven AMPAR transport not only precedes local synaptic trafficking, but can also influence synaptic AMPAR recycling⁸⁷.

In 2015, the same group demonstrated the effects of calcium calmodulindependent kinase II (CaMKII) mutants on the long-distance AMPAR transport mechanism. The sole CaMKII homolog in *C. elegans* is encoded by the *unc-43* gene and its role in AMPAR long-distance trafficking was originally posited by Rongo and Kaplan in 1999, where they discovered that loss of function CaMKII/UNC-43 resulted in accumulation of GLR-1 at the cell body⁸⁸. Hoerndli and colleagues found that in *unc-43* mutants, the transport of GLR-1 was severely decreased and almost nonexistent while a gain of function *unc-43* nearly doubles the GLR-1 transport compared to wild-type⁹. To determine if CaMKII was working upstream or downstream of *unc-116/KIF5*, GLR-1 transport was tested in *unc-116* RNAi knockdown with and without the presence of *unc-*

43(gf) mutation. They observed no distinguishable difference between *unc-116(RNAi)* mutants compared to the double mutants with *unc-43(gf)* which places UNC-43 upstream of UNC-116. Not only was UNC-43 acting at the cell body to control AMPAR transport, it also was crucial for the delivery and removal of GLR-1 at synapses⁹.

These two studies were critical in finding that altering AMPAR transport can change synaptic properties, namely the number of AMPARs at synapses. However, this left unanswered the effects that synapse activation has on AMPAR transport. It wasn't until 2018 when the Choquet lab answered this question in cell culture. They quantified multiple transport paradigms after selectively activating synapses by uncaging glutamate. They demonstrated that upon chemical LTP induction (defined by chemically inducing LTP by activating enzymes downstream from Ca²⁺ entry) AMPAR-containing vesicles arrested which is due to increased intracellular Ca²⁺. Interestingly, 15 minutes post LTP induction, the mean speed of AMPAR-containing vesicles increased. Thus, this led to their model that during synaptic activation, AMPAR-containing vesicles are stalled which allows them to survey their environment to determine if they need to be delivered to nearby synapses. The increased transport speed of the receptors is then a positive feedback to supply synapses with receptors to keep the activated synapses strengthened^{89,90}. This work not only reinforced what the Maricq lab found in *C. elegans* but also showed that kinesin-1-dependent transport of AMPARs is an evolutionarily conserved molecular mechanism for regulating AMPARs at synapses.

1.5 LAR/PTP-3 family of phosphatases

The leukocyte common antigen-related receptor protein tyrosine phosphatases (LAR-RPTP), also classified as type IIa RPTPs, are cell adhesion molecules that are

important in the developing nervous system and known to be important in excitatory synapse maintenance⁹¹. Although there are eight subfamilies of RPTPs in vertebrates, I will be focusing on the type IIa RPTPs and before I explain how LAR-RPTPs are involved in the nervous system, I will briefly describe some of their structural properties. In vertebrates, this family consists of three members, LAR, PTP- σ , and PTP- δ and are characterized by an N-terminal extracellular portion containing three immunoglobulin-like (Ig) domains, two to nine fibronectin III domains, and a transmembrane domain with an intracellular dual tyrosine phosphatase domain, D1 and D2, with D1 providing 99% of the catalytic activity of LAR and D2 binds to multiple downstream partners⁹².

Interestingly, LAR is known to be proteolytically cleaved which cuts the membraneproximal part of the extracellular domain into a 150kDa E-subunit and an 85kDa Psubunit⁹³. There is a penta-arginine sequence (amino acids 1148-1152) that is just before the cleavage site which is between the arginine at position 1152 and the glutamine at position 1153⁹³. This is a posttranslational modification that ultimately leads to the two subunits to reconstitute and be stably bound, but noncovalently associated. The E-subunit is known to be shed from the cell surface following cell activation but is cleaved a second time at a more membrane proximal site at amino acid 1223⁹³. Shedding of ectodomains is not an uncommon feature of transmembrane proteins under both normal and activated conditions. In fact, activation of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) has been shown to cause shedding of the E-subunit and disassociation of the P-subunit from the transmembrane domain⁹⁴. Although other CAMs such as neuroligin and neurexins can be cleaved and are thought to be regulated by shedding, this process is poorly understood.

1.5.1 Presynaptic role of LAR/PTP-3 family of phosphatases

There exist multiple lines of evidence from both invertebrate and vertebrate models that suggest RPTPs are critical in presynaptic synapse formation. General functions of vertebrate RPTPs include: mediating cell-cell adhesion and presynaptic differentiation, recruitment of presynaptic vesicles, and postsynaptic differentiation by binding to dendritic partners⁹⁵. The first reported postsynaptic binding partner of LAR was netrin-G ligand-3 (NGL-3)⁹⁶. In co-cultured cells, NGL-3 induces presynaptic differentiation which is suppressed by addition of the LAR ectodomain. Signaling from presynaptic RPTPs to postsynaptic NGL-3 can induce clustering of NGL-3 which is important in clustering of other postsynaptic proteins such as PSD-95, AMPARs, and NMDARs⁹⁶.

One of the distinct features of the RPTPs is that they possess motifs that are present in many cell adhesion molecules (CAMs) yet contain an intracellular phosphatase domain (**Fig 1.5**)⁹⁷. This unusual combination allows RPTPs to directly couple extracellular adhesion mediated events to intracellular signaling pathways⁹⁸. A well-known ligand of LAR is the extracellular matrix (ECM) laminin-nidogen complex which specifically binds to the fifth fibronectin domain⁹⁹. The laminin family of glycoproteins are typically associated in extracellular matrices found in intimate cell-cell contacts¹⁰⁰. The



precise mechanism of action of LAR interacting with the laminin-nidogen complex is not well established but is thought to be important in clustering of LAR and correct cellular localization within the synapse⁹⁹. This clustering is a possible mechanism of inhibition of LAR as it is known that the D1 phosphatase domains can homodimerize and block the active catalytic site¹⁰¹. Another known ligand of LAR is the heparan sulfate proteoglycan ECM molecule syndecan which is a transmembrane protein but can also be cleaved and shed into the extracellular medium¹⁰². The binding of syndecan to LAR in *trans* is known to regulate axon guidance in Drosophila, however, the authors could not discern if this interaction was when syndecan was still attached to the cell surface or if it was shed¹⁰². A paper that was published at the same time demonstrated that the axon guidance defect seen when disrupting the LAR-syndecan interaction was dependent on the three Ig-like domains and the phosphatase domain, but not the fibronectin domains of LAR¹⁰³. This reiterated what was already known about syndecan binding to the Ig-like domain of LAR but showed that regulation of axon guidance by LAR phosphatase activity is dependent on syndecan binding. The dual property of LAR as a CAM and a receptor give it a variety of ways to stabilize synaptic connections which could explain why it is expressed both pre and postsynaptically and has different mechanisms of action between the two. The complexity and expression patterns of RPTPs could be why their function in vivo is not well understood.

The *C. elegans* single RPTP, PTP-3, was originally found to be critical in neuroblast migration during embryogenesis¹⁰⁴. In 2005 however, the Jin lab demonstrated there were different isoforms of PTP-3 that had different effects on synapse formation aside from neuroblast migration. The *ptp-3* gene encodes two main isoforms

that differ in their extracellular domain, PTP-3A and PTP-3B (with a lesser known C isoform). PTP-3A contains three Ig-like domains, nine fibronectin domains, a transmembrane domain, and a dual phosphatase domain labeled D1 and D2 with D2 being catalytically inactive and is most closely related to vertebrate LAR⁹¹. PTP-3B has a similar structure except it only contains five fibronectin domains and no Ig-like domains⁹¹. PTP-3 is highly expressed in the nerve ring and nerve cord of worms and shows high presynaptic expression with overlap of presynaptic proteins such as SYD-2 and synaptotagmin. Interestingly, contrast to Drosophila, only the PTP-3B isoform is critical in motor axon guidance and is extrasynaptic. In contrast, PTP-3A, the closest homolog to LAR, is critical in presynaptic development and maintenance. Surprisingly, in the single syndecan homologue in *C. elegans*, there is no interaction with the Ig-like domains of the PTP-3A isoform which is contrary to *Drosophila* and instead only interacts with the PTP-3B isoform¹⁰⁵. What do we know about postsynaptic roles of LAR-RPTPs? In vertebrates, a few studies have examined LAR's postsynaptic role and its function in synaptic plasticity which will be discussed in the next section.

1.5.2 Postsynaptic role of LAR/PTP-3 family of phosphatases

LAR is known to coimmunoprecipitate with postsynaptic proteins such as PSD-95, GRIP and GluA2/3, what role does it have then in postsynaptic maintenance? There is evidence that LAR dephosphorylation of β -catenin recruits it to the synapse and causes anchoring of the pre and postsynaptic cells¹⁰⁶. The mechanism of action of LAR is not fully understood but is thought to depend on the liprin- α family of proteins and is activity-dependent. Liprin- α is known to bind to the D2 domain of LAR and regulate its subcellular localization. It was originally thought that liprin- α needs to be degraded to allow for LAR

to reach the synapse. However, recent structural analysis shows that liprin- α can bind LAR while it's at the cell surface. The liprin- α /LAR binding causes clustering of LAR which induces dimerization of its D1 domains and inactivates its catalytic activity¹⁰⁷. Thus, activity-dependent degradation of liprin- α causes declustering of LAR which allows it to be catalytically active. What causes the degradation of the liprin- α then? Morgan Sheng and colleagues demonstrated that activated CaMKII, a general sign of an "active" synapse, degrades liprin- α^{108} . What led us to study this phosphatase's mechanism of action as it applies to synaptic plasticity?

Although LAR has not been directly related to a mechanism in synaptic plasticity, LAR attracted us for a few reasons. First, it is known that the liprin-α/LAR complex binds to glutamate receptor interacting protein (GRIP) and thus has implications as being cotransported with AMPARs and possibly regulate AMPAR transport¹⁰⁹. Secondly, knockout studies of LAR show that it is critical in maintaining excitatory transmission presumably by regulating AMPAR numbers at synapses¹⁰⁸. Indeed, when LAR is knocked down in hippocampal neurons, there is loss of dendritic protrusions and spines. Lastly, most of the studies of LAR are from *in vitro* cell culture and almost nothing is known about its role in *in vivo* excitatory synapse maintenance.

The mechanism of LAR-RPTP activation in vertebrate excitatory neurons is not well established, but recent studies have started to uncover its possible interaction with NMDA-receptor-mediated responses in hippocampal neurons. The Sudhof lab was able to conjure a triple knockout of all three LAR-RPTPs in hippocampal neurons where they show that synaptic connectivity was unchanged but NMDA-receptor-mediated responses were decreased¹¹⁰. In a parallel study, the Kaiser lab also conjured a triple knockout and

found that ablation of the LAR-RPTPs does not alter synapse density and synaptic vesicle release¹¹¹. Although this is contrary to results found previously, the authors denote that this phenotype could be cell specific or that other RPTPs could possibly compensate for this loss. This shows that the mechanism of LAR-RPTPs is not well-understood.

The regulation of PTP-3A activity has not been well studied in worms. However, there has been a study identifying possible direct targets or downstream targets of PTP-3's phosphatase activity¹¹². A paper by Christopher Mitchell and colleagues analyzed genome-wide phosphorylation levels of proteins in *ptp-3* deletion mutants to find potential targets of PTP-3. Although there were 264 hyperphosphorylated sites in the mutants, the authors wanted to analyze if any of the sites were evolutionarily conserved between humans. There are currently nine known substrates of the LAR family and they identified orthologs of four of the nine known substrates: NTRK2, MET, INSR, and STAT3, showing a possible evolutionarily conserved role for PTP-3¹¹².

1.6 Thesis work

My thesis work was largely aimed at better understanding the role of long-distance AMPAR transport on synaptic plasticity *in vivo*. I originally set out to try and understand how dephosphorylation impacts this mechanism. Since there was no knowledge about the role of phosphatases in AMPAR transport but studies showing their importance for plasticity, finding any phosphatase impacting AMPAR transport might be a novel discovery. My work has suggested the importance of the phosphatase PTP-3A in regulating not only synaptic retention of AMPARs, but also in AMPAR transport. Before, PTP-3A was mainly known to be responsible in presynaptic axon guidance. Its role in

excitatory neurons, let alone its role in synaptic plasticity, had not been known in *C. elegans.*

My work was mainly focused on the role of the phosphatase PTP-3A in regulating long-distance AMPAR transport. This led to asking fundamental questions of how AMPAR transport can affect synaptic plasticity *in vivo*. It expands upon previous hypotheses that AMPAR transport is a critical step for regulating synaptic AMPAR numbers while establishing a possible role for AMPAR transport in learning and memory. In **Chapter 2**, I investigate the postsynaptic role that PTP-3A has on AMPAR transport and delivery. **Chapter 3** consists of unpublished data investigating the possible role that SYD-2 has on AMPAR transport and delivery and understanding the genetic pathway it shares with PTP-3A. Although I did not end up unequivocally determining the mechanism of how PTP-3A is controlling AMPAR transport or synaptic AMPAR delivery/removal, my studies have established a basic understanding of its role, laying the foundation for a model that help test many aspects of the role of LAR-RPTP/PTP-3 in AMPAR transport and synaptic plasticity (discussed further in **Chapter 4**).
CHAPTER 2: A Dual Role for LAR/PTP-3 in Regulating Long-distance AMPAR Transport and Synaptic Retention Essential for Long-Term Associative Memory¹

¹This chapter is an article in review as contributed by:

Pierce DM., Doser RL., Lenninger Z., Knight K., Stetak A., and Hoerndli F.J.

2.1 Summary

The AMPA subtype of synaptic glutamate receptors (AMPAR) plays an essential role in excitatory synaptic transmission, learning, and memory. Most of these receptors are synthesized in the soma of neurons and transported to branching, often far-reaching, dendrites. Coordinated transport, delivery, and removal of receptors is required to ensure synapse function and maintain homeostatic balance. This process is a major logistics problem for neurons, but it is essential for circuit function. Although recent studies have shown that long-distance synaptic transport is regulated by neuronal activity, we know very little about the mechanisms of coordinated transport and delivery. Here we show that loss of the PTP-3A isoform of the receptor tyrosine phosphatase PTP-3 (the C. elegans homologue of vertebrate LAR-RPTP) leads to a ~60% decrease in the GLR-1 AMPAR transport; this affects synaptic delivery and synaptic functions necessary for long-term associative olfactory memory (LTAM) in C. elegans. We reveal that PTP-3A is necessary postsynaptically in adult neurons for the regulation of AMPAR transport, delivery, and removal. While loss of PTP-3A leads to defects in transport and local synaptic trafficking of GLR-1, a mutation affecting all PTP-3 phosphatase domains only influences local synaptic cycling and retention. Finally, we show that the N- and C-terminal of PTP-3A have differing functions in regulating transport and synaptic retention of GLR-1. Our results suggest a model in which PTP-3/LAR-RPTPs coordinate transport and delivery of AMPARs to synapses via two domains, possibly released by synaptic activity, that are essential for long-term associative learning.

2.2 Introduction

The AMPA subtype of ionotropic glutamate receptors are the workhorse of excitatory synaptic transmission. Regulating the quantity of AMPA receptors (AMPARs) at synapses is essential for both synaptic input-dependent plasticity and network-dependent homeostatic plasticity. However, the majority of AMPARs are produced in the cell body and therefore must be trafficked to the synapses. This complex, multistep process is regulated on many levels, with the ultimate goal of finely tuning the form and function of receptors at the synapses. Although all steps are essential, arguably the most central phase of this process is the transport of AMPARs by molecular motors to be distributed at synapses. However, this is probably the least well studied step in AMPAR trafficking. New studies have started to reveal that this central transport is regulated by neuronal activity, calcium entry, and CaMKII^{89,113,114}. Although much of the mechanism of how this pathway exerts control over transport is still unknown, these studies have revealed that phosphorylation of both the cargo and motor-adaptors contribute to transport regulation^{89,114}. This implies that many pathways that were previously documented to affect AMPAR synaptic recruitment might also be involved in AMPAR transport in addition to their role in local synaptic mechanisms of stabilization and recruitment.

Recent studies have highlighted the role of tyrosine phosphorylation of AMPARs in synaptic and homeostatic plasticity mechanisms^{75,115–117}. Bidirectional phosphorylation

of a single tyrosine residue in the AMPAR GluA2 was observed in up and downscaling homeostatic *in vivo*⁷⁵ and has been shown to be critical for AMPAR recruitment during LTP¹¹⁸. Interestingly, tyrosine phosphatases such as Receptor-type Protein Tyrosine Phosphatases (RPTPs), in particular the LAR (leukocyte common antigen-related) family, have been documented to recruit and stabilize AMPARs at synapses during development¹¹⁹. the exact mechanism of how that is achieved is unknown. LAR-RPTPs and GRIP-1 can form a complex together with the protein scaffold liprin- α^{120} . GRIP-1 and liprin- α have been shown to bind to Kinesin-1, and it has been suggested that CaMKII phosphorylation of liprin- α releases LAR-RPTP from the complex to be recruited at synapses^{109,120–122}. However, there is no direct recent evidence for the roles of LAR-RPTPs, liprin- α , or GRIP-1 in AMPAR transport. As mentioned above, new approaches to AMPAR transport might shed more light on their role and the importance of Tyrosine phosphorylation in AMPAR transport, delivery, and retention.

The mammalian family of LAR-RPTPs includes LAR, PTP- δ , and PTP- σ which are part of the type IIa class of receptor tyrosine phosphatases. The type IIa RPTPs are single transmembrane domain phosphatases with a large N-terminal extracellular domain containing 3 Ig-like domains at the very tip followed by a variable number of Fibronectin III repeats^{97,123}. The intracellular domain contains two tandem phosphatase domains called D1 and D2, with only D1 being catalytically active but D2 being important for substrate specificity. LAR-RPTPs are normally cleaved post-translationally into 2 non-covalently linked subunits: the external E-subunit containing the 3 Ig-likes and Fibronectin repeats and the intracellular P-subunit containing the transmembrane domain and the tandem phosphatases. The D2 domain of LAR-RPTP has been found to bind to liprin- α

and colocalize with AMPARs in cell culture and at synapses. In addition, splicing variations give rise to many different isoforms of LAR-RPTPs that have different functional effects. Altogether, an overwhelming number of studies present a presynaptic role for LAR-RPTPs in synaptogenesis and synaptic function, with single gene-knock outs leading to behavioral defects^{124,125}. It is thought that different RPTPs might complement each other, and one important caveat so far has been the lack of a viable triple genetic knock-out. However, two recent studies with triple conditional knock-outs of LAR-RPTPs did not lead to defects in synaptogenesis nor a major effect on glutamatergic or GABAergic transmission in the hippocampus^{110,111}. These recent studies further underscore our lack of understanding of the mechanisms by which LAR-RPTPs act on synaptic function.

The *C. elegans* sole type IIa RPTP gene, *ptp-3*, encodes three isoforms that differ in the extracellular domain (**Fig. 2.1A**)¹⁰⁴. PTP-3A is most similar to vertebrate LAR, with 3 Ig-like domains and 9 fibronectin repeats, followed by a transmembrane domain, and the tandem phosphatase domain (**Fig. 2.1A**). PTP-3 has been shown to have presynaptic roles in synaptogenesis^{105,126–128} but has not been studied in relation to glutamate receptor regulation *in vivo*.

Here we report a postsynaptic role for the PTP-3A isoform coordinating GLR-1 transport, synaptic delivery, and synaptic recycling necessary for short and long-term associative memory in *C. elegans*. Using *in vivo* real-time analysis of GLR-1 transport, FRAP, photoconversion, and N and C-terminal cell specific rescues, we show that the extracellular N-terminal domain promotes GLR-1 transport from the cell body, while the intracellular C-terminal phosphatase regulates synaptic GLR-1 recycling. We link these

molecular observations with specific effects on associative olfactory memory, demonstrating that different effects on delivery and synaptic cycling of GLR-1 correspond to different effects on memory retention. We propose a model in which PTP-3A plays a dual role in regulating transport and synaptic retention, which is essential for long-term associative memory in *C. elegans*, that has profound implications for understanding synaptic plasticity mechanisms in vertebrate systems.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 The largest isoform of PTP-3, PTP-3A, modulates GLR-1 transport

Initial studies in hippocampal cell culture documented a postsynaptic specific role for LAR, PTP- δ , and PTP- σ in recruiting GluA2 to synapses^{119,129}. Aside from a requirement for the tandem phosphatase domain to function and interact with other partners, no additional mechanism was proposed¹¹⁹. To elucidate how LAR receptors regulate AMPAR synaptic recruitment, we started by quantifying GLR-1 transport in vivo, in a single pair of neurons, as previously described¹¹³, using isoform specific loss-offunction mutations in the sole C. elegans homologue of LAR: PTP-3. The ok244 allele leads to a premature stop in translation and loss of expression of the PTP-3A isoform (Fig. 2.1A and Table 2.1 see Methods¹²⁶). The *mu245* mutant results in a premature stop codon and thus leads to loss of both PTP-3A and B isoforms (Fig. 2.1 and Table 2.1 see Methods¹⁰⁵). The *mu256* mutation causes a frameshift and premature stop in the first intracellular phosphatase domain affecting all 3 isoforms of PTP-3 (Fig. 2.1 and Table 2.1 see Methods¹⁰⁵). In the glr-1 (ky176) null background, using SEP::mCherry::GLR-1 expression in the AVA command interneurons only, we combined photobleaching and continuous imaging of mCherry::GLR-1 to observe single vesicle GLR-1 transport events as previously reported¹¹³. The streams were then converted into kymographs displaying lateral displacement on the x axis and time on the y axis, illustrating moving single transport events as diagonal lines (**Fig. 2.1A**,) and immobile vesicles as vertical lines (**Fig. 2.1A**). A first look at the number of transport events (**Fig. 2.1D**), shows that *ok244* and *mu245* lead to a ~50% decrease in GLR-1 transport events. Surprisingly, the *mu256* mutation affecting all 3 isoforms did not significantly affect GLR-1 transport. These results suggest that the loss of the phosphatase domain does not affect GLR-1 transport. In addition, the similarity of effect between *ok244* and *mu245* suggest that PTP-3A is the main isoform modulating GLR-1 transport.

The loss of transport observed in *ok244* mutants, resulting in a PTP-3A null, is rescued by expressing PTP-3A full length under the native promoter and under the pFlp-18 promoter (**Fig. 2.1D**). Flp-18 is specifically expressed in AVA⁸⁵ indicating a postsynaptic requirement of PTP-3A for GLR-1 transport regulation. Although transport numbers are an important determinant of GLR-1 delivery, we also recently showed that transport dynamics play a role in GLR-1 delivery and synaptic contingent¹¹³. Using this same analysis, we illustrate that similar to its effect on transport numbers, the *ok244* allele leads to a significant decrease in stopping (Control= $24\%\pm 2.1$; *ok244*= $16\%\pm 1.5$). On the contrary the *mu256* allele did not lead to a significant decrease in stopping (*mu256*= $30\%\pm 5.6$) nor did a cell specific rescue of the PTP-3A isoform (PTP-3A AVA= $25\%\pm 2.9$) (**Fig. 2.1E**). We also quantified anterograde and retrograde velocities in all alleles but saw no major differences in overall instantaneous velocities (**Figure 2.2A-D**). A more detailed analysis plotting the different velocities showed that *ok244* and *mu256* do not differ from controls in terms of velocity distribution, whereas *mu245* seems to have a reduction in transport events with velocities > 1.5 μ m/s (**Figure 2.2B**). In addition, we did not see any defects in total outgrowth of the AVA neurons nor microtubule dynamics in *ok244 mutants* using EBP-2::GFP (**Figure 2.2E-F**) as described previously⁸⁵, suggesting that the GLR-1 transport decrease we observed is not due to microtubule defects or neurite outgrowth. Taken together, these experiments suggest that PTP-3A is important for regulating 50% of GLR-1 transport in dendrites by stimulating transport numbers out of the cell body and facilitating stops in dendrites that might favor delivery of receptors.

Previous work in *C. elegans* has shown a role for PTP-3 in neuronal and synaptic development^{104,126}. To address the possibility that partial loss of GLR-1 transport may be due to developmental roles of PTP-3 we utilized an inducible heat-shock approach to temporally express PTP-3A in the ok244 background. Briefly, transgenic C. elegans animals containing hsp16-2P::PTP-3A were heat-shocked for 1 hour at 32°C and left to recover for 1 hour at room temperature (as previously published in Hoerndli et. al., 2015). GLR-1 transport was then quantified as described in Fig. 2.1D. Heat-shock treatment had no significant effect in control and ok244 animals without the array (Fig 2.1F-G) but showed a strong increase of GLR-1 transport in transgenic animals (Fig. 2.1E and 2.1F) that was comparable to levels of GLR-1 transport in control animals (Figure 2.2G). Interestingly, a guick analysis of transport stopping for heat shocked treated animals with the transgenic *hsp16-2p::PTP-3A* showed no rescue of the stopping behavior (Figure **2.2H**), suggesting that the short time scale of this protocol might not be enough for enabling synaptic changes. Overall, our results suggest that PTP-3A has an ongoing role in modulating GLR-1 somatic export as well as dendritic transport dynamics.



Figure 2.1: PTP-3A isoform modulates GLR-1 transport. A) Sequential images and kymograph of the mCherry signal from SEP::GLR-1::mCherry in the proximal portion of the AVA processes shortly after entering the ventral nerve cord. The images shows GLR-1::mCherry signal prior to 1s photobleaching and 39s after with intermediate pictures showing single GLR-1 mCherry transport vesicles (anterograde orange, retrograde purple arrowheads). The kymograph shows all transport events starting at T = 32 seconds. The numbering of the arrowheads corresponds to the precise position and time of transport events shown in the static images above. B) diagram of the different PTP-3 isoforms and approximate localization and nature of different genetic alleles used in this study (and methods). Black arrows indicate point mutations. C-D) Representative kymographs and subsequent quantification of total GLR-1 transport in control (n=39) and different ptp-3 genetic backgrounds including ok244 (n=26), mu245 (n=13), mu256 (n=7) and ok244 rescued either with PTP-3A expressed under its native promoter (n=7) or under the flp-18 promoter (n=16). All kymographs originate from the conversion of 16s streaming imaging of GLR-1::mCherry signal from SEP::GLR-1::mCherry in the glr-1(ky176); ak/s201 background. ****p < 0.0001. E) Kymograph quantification of the percentage of time each transport events spends stopped compared to the total time spent traveling (methods). The number of transport events were for controls (n=15), ok244 (n=17), mu256 (n=7) and ok244 rescued either with PTP-3A expressed under its native promoter (n=5) or under the flp-18 promoter (n=8), *p < 0.05. **F-G**) representative kymographs and quantification of the total number of GLR-1 transport events with and without 1hr 32°C heat shock treatment of adult animals in the ok244 background alone (no heat-shock n= 12, with heat-shock n=4) or with hsp16-2p::PTP-3A (no heat-shock n= 11, with heat-shock n=16). Only heat-shock treated adult animals showed an increase in transport events ***p < 0.001. All statistics used an ordinary one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's multiple testing corrections. Error bars represent SEM and all scale bars represent 5µm.

2.3.2 PTP-3A modulates synaptic number of GLR-1 receptors

To determine whether these transport defects would result in reduced synaptic GLR-1, we quantified synaptic SEP::mCherry::GLR-1 in the alleles described above (**Fig. 2.1**). The double N-terminal tag of GLR-1 with SEP (Super Ecliptic Phluorin), which is a pH sensitive GFP whose fluorescence is quenched at pH 6.5 and below, and mCherry allows the quantification of the synaptic surface GLR-1 receptors and the total pool of GLR-1 receptors at synapses^{113,130} as described in (**Fig. 2.3A**). Loss of PTP-3A (*ok244*) led to a decrease in synaptic surface GLR-1 (SEP = 0.73 ± 0.06 , **Fig. 2.3C**) as well as a decrease in the total synaptic pool including the endosomal subsynaptic receptors (mCherry= 0.66 ± 0.08 , **Fig. 2.3D**) compared to same day controls. We also determined



whether the loss of both PTP-3A and PTP-3B (*mu245*) would lead to a more pronounced loss of synaptic GLR-1 receptors. Our data (**Figure 2.4A** and **2.4B**, SEP= 0.75 ± 0.08 , mCherry= 0.75 ± 0.07) show that, similar to what we found with transport, synaptic GLR-1 levels are not more affected by the double loss of PTP-3A and B in the *mu245 allele,* indicating that loss of PTP-3A is the main driver of the synaptic phenotype we observed. The *mu256* allele showed no effect on the synaptic endosomal GLR-1 pool marked by mCherry (**Figure 2.3D**, mCherry = 1.0 ± 0.15 , compared to control= 1.0 ± 0.07) but did affect the number of GLR-1 surface receptors, as the SEP signal is reduced (**Fig. 2.3C**,

SEP = 0.57 ± 0.07 , compared to control= 1.0 ± 0.07). Similar to transport, this effect of PTP-3A loss on synaptic GLR-1 could be rescued by expression of PTP-3A under the native promoter as well as the AVA cell specific promoter pFlp-18 (**Fig. 2.3B-D**). This suggests that PTP-3A is required postsynaptically for its effect on synaptic GLR-1 trafficking.

Impaired transport can have a differential effect on proximal and distal distribution of synaptic receptors⁸⁵. To determine if this is the case for the loss of PTP-3A (*ok244*) allele, we quantified both the proximal and distal synaptic GLR-1 numbers (**Fig. 2.3E-H**). Indeed, *ok244* showed a decrease in both surface and total number of synaptic receptors (SEP= 0.73 ± 0.06 , mCherry= 0.66 ± 0.08 , **Fig. 2.3E-H**) compared to controls at proximal synapses, whereas both surface and total pool were increased in distal synapses receptors (SEP= 1.59 ± 0.22 , mCherry= 1.64 ± 0.21 , **Fig. 2.3E-H**). This suggests a possible defect in receptor delivery which then results in distal accumulation. We also measured GLR-1 mCherry at the soma of the AVAs in control and *ok244* but found no difference in expression level suggesting that loss of PTP-3A does not affect translation of GLR-1 (**Figure 2.4C-D**).



in the *glr-1(ky176)* knockout background. Control worms represent *glr-1(ky176)* expressing SEP::mCherry::GLR-1 with no further mutations. **B**) Confocal images of SEP::GLR-1 and mCherry::GLR-1. (**C and D**) Quantification of (**C**) SEP fluorescence and (**D**) mCherry fluorescence, normalized to control. Control (n=45), *ok244* (n=26), *mu256* (n=19), *ok244*[PTP-3A] (n=15), *ok244*[PTP-3A AVA] (n=45). (**E and F**) Representative confocal images of SEP::GLR-1 and mCherry::GLR-1 of *ok244* in (**E**) proximal portion of the AVA process and (**F**) distal portion that is located at the end of the process as outlined in (A). (**G and H**) Quantification of SEP fluorescence and mCherry fluorescence in the (**G**) proximal process and (**H**) distal process normalized to control. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, ****p < 0.0001. All statistics used an ordinary one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's multiple testing corrections. Error bars represent SEM and all scale bars represent 5µm.



As mentioned previously, PTP-3 function has been shown to be important for

synaptic development of the neuromuscular junction^{126,127} but its role in synaptic development of glutamatergic command interneuron development is unknown. We

quantified the density of synapses marked by surface SEP::GLR-1 and synaptic endosomal pools marked by mCherry::GLR-1 (**Figure 2.4 E-F**) to test for evidence of a developmental role of PTP-3A in excitatory synapse development. However, we did not observe significant differences between *ok244* and controls suggesting that PTP-3A is not of major importance for the development of glutamatergic synapses in the AVA command interneurons. Based on these results, we predicted that loss of PTP-3A would modify excitatory synaptic function and therefore behaviors associated with excitatory synapses in *C. elegans*.

2.3.3 PTP-3A is necessary for olfactory associative memory but not learning

A proper contingent of GLR-1 receptors in AVA has been tied to normal olfactory associative memory^{11,131}. To determine if the synaptic GLR-1 defects due to loss of PTP-3A are associated with learning and memory, we used population based olfactory attraction assays^{11,132–134}. We quantified olfactory attraction to 0.1% diacetyl in naïve animals without training, immediately after diacetyl coupled starvation training, and after 1-hour recovery on normal food plates (**Fig. 2.5A**). Our results, show that loss of PTP-3A (*ok244*) or all phosphatase domains (*mu256*), did not affect naïve attraction nor did it prevent learning the negative association of diacetyl with starving. However, loss of PTP-3A did significantly decrease retention of this memory, whereas loss of the phosphatase domains was more mitigated in its effects (**Fig. 2.5B**). One hour of conditioning and 1-hour of recovery reveal effects on short term associative memory (STAM,¹¹). Long-term associative memory (LTAM) can be assayed by repeating negative association with an hour of recovery in between and then quantifying attraction 24 hours after training (**Fig. 2.5C**). Here, loss of PTP-3A and PTP-3 phosphatase function led to a strong decrease in memory retention again without any effects on naïve attraction or immediate learned avoidance after conditioning. To determine if this effect on STAM and LTAM requires preor postsynaptic expression of PTP-3A, we used transgenic animals expressing PTP-3A under the Pflp-18 promoter, which drives PTP-3A expression in AVA ⁸⁵. By Repeating the previous approach with a new set of controls (wild-type animals and *ok244*), we quantified learning, STAM, and LTAM for animals with PTP-3A expression only in AVA (**Fig. 2.5D and E**). Expression of PTP-3A in AVA alone had no effect on learning in either STAM (**Fig. 2.5D**) or LTAM (**Fig. 2.5E**). However, it rescued both STAM and LTAM defects observed in animals lacking PTP-3A completely (1h memory and 24hrs memory in **Fig. 2.5D and E**). These data confirm the defects we observed with the loss of PTP-3A and show that postsynaptic expression of PTP-3A is essential for both short and long-term olfactory associative memory.



(Legend on next page)

Figure 2.5: Loss of PTP-3 function affects short and long-term associative memory.

A) Illustration of the chemotaxis associative memory protocol. **B)** Starvation conditioning of worms was assayed towards 0.1% diacetyl (DA) after preincubation with no DA (naïve) or 1-hour preincubation (1xcond). For 1h memory, worms were starvation conditioned with 0.1% DA for 1 hour then were presented with food and no DA for 1 hour. These worms were then subjected to the chemotaxis trial to test short-term memory. **C)** two 1-hour preincubation with 0.1% DA trials with a 30-minute rest period between trials. Worms were allowed food and no DA for 24hr then subjected to the chemotaxis trial (24h memory). **(D and E)** Tissue specific rescue of the **(D)** short and **(E)** long-term associative learning defect in *ok244* with [PTP-3A AVA]. Chemotaxis index = (worms at DA – worms at EtOh)/Total number of worms. All stats were done using a 2-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction for multiple testing.

2.3.4 PTP-3A is necessary for both delivery and retention of GLR-1 at synapses

Our results so far show that transport and synaptic levels of GLR-1 are affected by the loss of the PTP-3A isoform. More precise analysis of the proximal and distal contingent of receptors as well as stops during transport in the proximal AVA sections indicate that loss of PTP-3A could lead to decreased GLR-1 delivery. To better determine what is happening at synapses and how this relates to different mutations in PTP-3, we used FRAP of SEP::mCherry::GLR-1 in the same proximal region of AVA in which GLR-1 synaptic fluorescence was quantified (Fig. 2.3). As described in the Methods and previously, we quantified SEP and mCherry FRAP before, immediately after, and at several time points over a total of 20 minutes¹¹³. Our results indicate that, compared to controls, loss of PTP-3A(ok244) showed a distinct decrease in mCherry GLR-1 recovery which was matched by a similar decrease in SEP recovery (Fig. 2.6B-E). On the other hand, the *mu256* allele showed no effect on mCherry recovery but a strong decrease in SEP recovery (Fig. 2.6B-E). The mCherry FRAP is consistent with the phenotypes observed for these alleles in which ok244 but not mu256 (Fig. 2.1B) showed decreased transport. The SEP analysis shows that in addition to delivery, exocytosis and maybe retention play an important role partially explaining why both ok244 and mu256 decrease olfactory associative memory retention (Fig. 2.5).

To determine whether retention of GLR-1 might be affected by loss of PTP-3A or PTP-3 phosphatase domains, we utilized GLR-1::Dendra2, which allows single synapse photoconversion of GLR-1 receptors^{85,114}. Two to three single synapses with similar GLR-1::Dendra2 expression were photoconverted from green to red and image stacks were acquired after 1, 2, 4, 8, 12 and 16 minutes as described previously⁹ and in the online methods. *ok244* mutants displayed a quick loss of GLR-1 receptors resulting in 90% of receptors lost in 8 minutes (15.7% \pm 3.7 fluorescence remaining, compared to 63 % \pm 4.6 in control animals Fig. 2.6H). mu256 mutants also showed a loss of GLR-1 receptors, much slower than ok244 (54.5 % \pm 3.5 after 8 minutes Fig. 2.6H), but nevertheless faster than controls. Indeed, when we quantified the number of remaining photoconverted receptors still present after 2 hours, both ok244 and mu256 animals had significantly lower number of receptors remaining compared to controls but not significantly different from each other (Figure 2.7B). In this assay, images were captured before and immediately after photoconversion, and animals were then left to recover on food plates for 2 hours before imaging photoconverted synapses again as previously described⁹. In addition, since ok244 did lead to decreased GLR-1 delivery, we tested whether the area of photoconverted GLR-1::Dendra2 differed between controls, ok244, and mu256 but found no significant differences (Figure 2.7A).



Figure 2.6: Differential regulation of delivery and removal of synaptic GLR-1 by PTP-3.

A) Cartoon illustration of the FRAP imaging location within AVA. (**B and C**) Confocal images taken before photobleach, directly after photobleach, and 16min post photobleach of (B) SEP::GLR-1 and (**C**) mCherry::GLR-1. Post processing of a 10x exposure increase of some pictures is required to see fluorescence. (**D and E**) Quantification of the %Recovery at each time point of (**D**) SEP fluorescence and (**E**) mCherry fluorescence. Time points are 0min, 2min, 4min, 8min, 12min, 16min. Control (n=7), *ok244* (n=9), *mu256* (n=9). %Recovery is calculated by fluorescence of (Before – After photobleach) – (Fluorescence at time point) / (Before – After photobleach). **F**) Cartoon illustration of the dendra photoconversion protocol. **G**) Confocal images of GLR-1::Dendra2 in the proximal region of AVA before UV photoconversion, directly after UV photoconversion, and 16 minutes post photoconversion. **H**) Quantification of the red fluorescence of (Fluorescence at time point)/(Before – After photoconversion). Control (n=10 puncta), *ok244* (n=10 puncta), *mu256* (n=16puncta). **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001. Error bars represent SEM and all scale bars represent 5µm.



Taken together, FRAP and quantification of synaptic GLR-1 content in animals lacking PTP-3A show decreased synaptic GLR-1 in endosomes and at the synaptic surface due to a defect in synaptic retention. To try to distinguish between a role of PTP- 3A in regulating recycling or GLR-1 synaptic anchoring, we measured interpunctal SEP::GLR-1 levels in PTP-3A(*ok244*) animals. We reasoned that loss of GLR-1 synaptic anchoring in animals lacking PTP-3A would lead to increased diffusion out of the synapse into extra synaptic space. Our results (**Figure 2.7C**) did not support this model, nor did it show increased levels of GLR-1 between synaptic endosomes (**Figure 2.7D**). These results suggest that PTP-3A affects synaptic recycling of GLR-1.

Since there is both enhanced removal and decreased delivery, it is not clear which of these two mechanisms contributes more to the decreased synaptic GLR-1 numbers. To better understand how synaptic cycling is affected by loss of PTP-3A, we used a genetic loss-of-function of UNC-11, the C. elegans homologue of a clathrin adaptor protein, AP180, necessary for the endocytosis of GLR-1¹³⁵. We made double mutants of unc-11 and ptp-3, as well as single unc-11(lf), all containing SEP::GLR-1::mCherry (Figure 2.7E-G). Quantification of SEP and mCherry signals in unc-11(If) showed that a lack of endocytosis led to higher levels of SEP::GLR-1 compared to controls (Figure 2.7E-G) but did not affect GLR-1::mCherry signal. This indicates that loss of unc-11 clearly affected only synaptic surface levels of GLR-1 without affecting endosomal retention. Here we can make a few predictions. First, if loss of PTP-3A mostly affects synaptic GLR-1 by acting on delivery and exocytosis, then double mutants with unc-11(If) would have less synaptic SEP::GLR-1 signal than unc-11(If) alone. Second, if delivery and exocytosis defects are secondary to increased removal, then double mutants with unc-11(If) would appear to have normal or increased SEP::GLR-1. Our results indicate that ptp-3A(ok244);unc-11(If) show increased SEP::GLR-1 compared to controls and unc-11(If) (Figure 2.7E). In addition, total levels of GLR-1::mCherry are indistinguishable

between controls, *unc-11(lf)* and *unc-11(lf);ptp-3(ok244)* doubles. Altogether, these experiments suggest that PTP-3A may regulate synaptic endocytosis of GLR-1.

2.3.5 Differential roles of PTP-3A N-terminal and C-terminal domains in regulating GLR-1 transport and synaptic retention

Our results show that the ok244 allele and not the mu256 allele leads to decreased GLR-1 transport, synaptic stability, and behavioral memory dysfunction. In addition, the loss of both PTP-3A and B isoforms is no different than the loss of PTP-3A alone for GLR-1 transport or synaptic numbers. PTP-3A differs from PTP-3B by its N-terminal ectodomain, containing three Ig-like and five fibronectin domains. This suggests that these domains could play an important role in GLR-1 transport. Indeed, a previous study has reported that a short N-terminal fragment of LAR-RPTP plays a functional signaling role *in vivo* in vertebrates¹³⁶. To test this hypothesis, we engineered a construct that would lead to extracellular secretion of the two most N-terminal Ig-like domains of PTP-3A by AVA neurons (Fig. 2.8B) and expressed it in animals lacking PTP-3A, ptp-3(ok244). We first quantified GLR-1 transport in controls, ok244, and ok244 with the N-terminal constructs (Fig. 2.8A-C). Interestingly, postsynaptic expression of this limited N-terminal domain alone rescued GLR-1 transport almost to control levels (Fig. 2.8C, ok244+[flp-18p::Nterm PTP-3] (n=16) 0.863 \pm 0.066 compared to control (n=39) 1.00 \pm 0.058). Although rescue of the number of transport events carrying GLR-1 is of central importance for GLR-1 delivery, other signaling mechanisms at synapses can also control delivery (Doser *et. al.*, 2020 and **Fig. 2.1**). Therefore, we proceeded to quantify synaptic GLR-1 levels in controls, *ok244*, and *ok244* expressing our N-terminal construct (Fig. **2.8D-F**). Analysis of SEP and mCherry GLR-1 signals show that AVA specific expression

of only the two most N-terminal Ig-like domains of PTP-3A could partially rescue total GLR-1 levels at synapses (**Fig. 2.8F**) as well as the number of GLR-1 receptors at the synaptic surface (**Fig. 2.8E**). Our previous analyses of GLR-1 synaptic contingents and transport showed that the *mu256* allele, with a premature stop before the D1 D2 phosphatase domain, did not affect global transport of GLR-1 but did affect synaptic surface retention of receptors. Therefore, we were curious if we could rescue this phenotype by sole expression of the C-terminal phosphatase domain with its membrane tether in AVA (**Fig. 2.8B**). We first quantified GLR-1 transport (**Fig. 2.8A and 2.8D**) and saw no effect on transport due to *mu256* nor in *mu256* animals expressing phosphatase domains. However, expression of the C-terminal domain did partially rescue the numbers of synaptic GLR-1 surface receptors (**Fig. 2.8E**). Taken together, these results suggest a cell specific role for the N-terminal domain of PTP-3A in regulating transport and synaptic recruitment of GLR-1, whereas the phosphatase domain of PTP-3A has a more local, synapse specific, role in retention of GLR-1 receptors at the synaptic surface.



Figure 2.8: The N-terminal and C-terminal domain of PTP-3A regulate different aspects of GLR-1 transport to synapses. A) 15s of representative kymographs from each group. *ok244* N-term represents the three Ig-like domains of PTP-3A expressed under the AVA specific *flp-18* promoter in the *ok244* background. *mu256* + C-term represents the dual-phosphatase domain of PTP-3A expressed under the AVA specific *flp-18* promoter in the *mu256* background. Cartoon schematic of the expression is outlined in (B) Control (n=25), *ok244* (n=26), *ok244* + N-term (n=16), *mu256* (n=10), *mu256* + C-term (n=10). C) Different day transport event quantification of *ok244* and *ok244* + N-term (N-term) and *mu256* and *mu256* + C-term (C-term) normalized to control. D) Confocal images of SEP::GLR-1 and mCherry::GLR-1 of the different groups. (E and F) Quantification of (E) SEP fluorescence and (F) mCherry fluorescence, normalized to control. Control (n=20), *ok244* (n=10), *ok244* + N term (n=24) *mu256* (n=24), *mu256* + C term (n=24) *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01. Error bars represent SEM and all scale bars represent 5µm.

Our previous analyses of synaptic GLR-1 numbers and transport dynamics in animals lacking PTP-3A correlated with functional consequences in memory retention (Fig. 2.5). To test whether this holds true for the N-terminal AVA expression of PTP-3A, we tested both short and long-term associative olfactory memory in controls, ok244, and ok244 with AVA expression of the PTP-3A Ig-like domains (Fig. 2.9A-B). Consistent with our previous analyses, animals lacking PTP-3A(ok244) exhibited defects in short- and long-term memory, without any defects in learning compared to controls. AVA expression of the Ig-like domains completely rescued these defects back to control levels. Altogether, our data have uncovered a new role for PTP-3A in regulating long-distance GLR-1 transport and synaptic retention that is important for synaptic GLR-1 function. More importantly, our analyses with genetic alleles and cell specific rescue of PTP-3A domains revealed a completely new role for the N-terminal domain of PTP-3A in regulating GLR-1 transport and synaptic delivery that is important for excitatory synaptic function and associative memory. Our results suggest a model (Figure 2.9C) in which the N-terminal domain of PTP-3A regulates GLR-1 transport numbers and receptor delivery whereas the C-terminal phosphatase domains regulate local synaptic retention.



(Legend on next page)

Figure 2.9: Postsynaptic cell specific expression of PTP-3A N-terminal domain rescues short and long-term associative memory. A) Quantification of the chemotaxis towards 0.1% DA of unconditioned worms (naïve), worms conditioned for 1 hour with 1% DA without food (1xcond) and animals conditioned but transferred to food for 1 hour (1h memory, STAM). The following genotypes were tested: control (N2), ptp-3(ok244) and ptp-3(ok244) with AVA expression of the N-term 2Ig-like domains (N=12 trials, for all genotypes). B) Quantification of the chemotaxis towards 0.1% DA of unconditioned worms (naïve), worms conditioned twice for 1 hour with 1% DA without food with 30 minutes rest between conditioning (2xcond) and animals conditioned but transferred to food for 24 hours (24h memory, LTAM). The following genotypes were tested: control (N2) trials), ptp-3(ok244) and ptp-3(ok244) with AVA expression of the N-term 2lg-like domains (N=9 trials, for all genotypes). Chemotaxis index = (worms at DA – worms at EtOH)/Total number of worms. * p < 0.05, .** p < 0.01, .*** p < 0.001, .**** p < 0.0001, using a 2-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction for multiple testing. C) Hypothetical model of the dual function of PTP-3A in regulating GLR-1 transport and synaptic retention. Synaptic activity and glutamate release may lead to cleavage of the extracellular and intracellular domains of PTP-3A (?), the N-terminal domains could bind to an unknown receptor which then stimulates GLR-1 transport out of the neuronal soma (1), the cleaved C-terminal D1D2 phosphatase domains either remain at the synaptic surface or get internalized (2), where they dephosphorylate unidentified substrates leading to retention of GLR-1 at synapses.

2.4 Discussion

Excitatory synaptic transmission is essential for all animal behavior including cognition, learning, and memory. Reliable synaptic transmission and plasticity depend on the continuous function of hundreds of synaptic proteins, which all have a limited lifetime, and the majority of which are produced in the soma of neurons. Since some neurons have upwards of thousands of synapses, sometimes far away from the cell body, this presents a particularly formidable logistical challenge. In some ways, this is reminiscent of the famous optimization problem called the Traveling Salesman Problem (TSP) in which a traveling salesman must find the shortest path to visit a certain number of cities. This problem was first formulated in the 1930s and then applied in computer sciences¹³⁷. Although this supply chain issue applies to all synaptic proteins, neurotransmitter receptors, particularly the ionotropic AMPA receptors at synapses, are especially important since they are critical components of excitatory neurotransmission and synaptic plasticity. Although neurons usually use local pools of receptors (either at the membrane or in endosomes) to rapidly respond to local synaptic demands⁶⁶, these pools still need

continuous targeted supply to be functional^{81,84}. Several key studies have now shown that activity regulated molecular motor-dependent transport of AMPARs is an evolutionarily conserved mechanism essential for synaptic function and plasticity^{9,89,90}. However, although these studies present good evidence that this transport system is necessary and global transport levels are regulated by neuronal activity, they have not identified the regulatory mechanisms of AMPAR delivery to synapses nor how neurons integrate synaptic demands to achieve proper homeostatic balance.

Here, we present evidence that PTP-3A, the *C. elegans* homologue of vertebrate LAR, is a key signaling component that enables the coordinated distribution of synaptic AMPARs. By comparing long-distance transport and local synaptic dynamics of GLR-1, we can distinguish PTP-3/LAR-RPTP's role in global trafficking or local, synapse specific, retention. Our data show that two separate domains of the transmembrane PTP-3A/LAR achieve this coordination by regulating different yet overlapping aspects of GLR-1/AMPARs transport. The N-terminal extracellular portion regulates the number of transport vesicles containing GLR-1 that originate from the soma. This process is dependent on the presence of Ig-like domains of PTP-3A/LAR and necessary for the delivery of receptors to synapses. The C-terminal intracellular portion of PTP-3A/LAR containing 2 phosphatase domains regulates synaptic retention of GLR-1/AMPARs by acting locally on receptor delivery, surface delivery, and endocytosis. In addition, we show that postsynaptic PTP-3A functions are necessary for proper associative olfactory memory, which is critically dependent on the glutamatergic function of command interneurons in *C. elegans*. We propose a new theoretical model in which synaptic activity could potentially lead to the cleavage of LAR-RPTP/PTP-3A and subsequent release of

the N- and C-terminal domains, enabling both cellular stimulation of global GLR-1/AMPAR transport and local retention of GLR-1/AMPARs at activated synapses (**Fig. 2.9C**).

2.4.1 Cell specific regulation of GLR-1/AMPAR transport by PTP-3A/LAR-RPTP

AMPA receptor transport from the neuronal soma and intracellular pools is dependent on microtubule-dependent motors^{81,84,89,114}. Recent studies in *C. elegans* have shown that this is mostly dependent on Kinesin-1, with some anterograde transport by KLP-4(KIF13), and is regulated by neuronal activity^{85,113,114}. Vertebrate studies showing that AMPAR transport is regulated by synaptic activity and important for synaptic plasticity^{89,90} further show that activity-dependent regulation of AMPAR transport is evolutionarily conserved. In this study we show that the loss of PTP-3A leads to a 60% decrease in GLR-1 transport (**Fig. 2.1**). We also establish that this decrease can be rescued by cell specific and temporally-limited adult expression of PTP-3A, indicating that PTP-3A modulation of GLR-1 transport is required constitutively and cell specifically.

PTP-3A is the longest isoform of PTP-3 in *C. elegans* and the closest homologue to LAR in vertebrates^{104,126}. Previous studies in *C. elegans* have shown a presynaptic role for PTP-3A working with *syd-2/*liprin-- α and Nidogen-1 in neuromuscular junction development^{105,126}. These previous studies illustrated a presynaptic localization of PTP-3A based on its colocalization with UNC-10 and SNT-1 and only a partial overlap with the GABA_A *C. elegans* homologue, UNC-49. Our data reveal that cell specific expression of PTP-3A in AVA is sufficient to rescue transport and synaptic content of GLR-1, suggesting a postsynaptic function of PTP-3A in GLR-1 regulation. In addition, these previous studies indicated a neuro-developmental role for PTP-3 similar to their homologues, LAR-RPTPs, in vertebrates^{97,123}. More specifically, it was observed that the PTP-3B isoform was necessary for axon guidance whereas the PTP-3A was not. However, PTP-3A was important for regulating synapse formation using UNC-10 and SNT-1 presynaptic markers. Our data using SEP::GLR-1::mCherry expressed in AVA shows that indeed some animals with the *mu245* allele, leading to the loss of both PTP-3A and 3B, showed defasciculated AVA processes in ~20-30% of all animals (data not shown). However, loss of PTP-3A did not induce any defasciculation, nor did it affect synaptic density of GLR-1 (**Figure 2.1 and Figure 2.4**). Furthermore, synaptic GLR-1 levels could be rescued by adult expression of PTP-3A indicating that PTP-3A has more of a constitutive role in GLR-1 transport, recruitment, and retention at the synapse. These results add to other *in vivo* vertebrate studies in which a triple conditional mouse knock-out for all class IIa RPTPs did <u>not</u> affect development of either excitatory nor inhibitory synapses in the hippocampus of mice^{110,111}.

In contrast to a large body of literature documenting a presynaptic role for LAR-RPTPs^{123,138,139}, which include LAR, PTP- σ and PTP- δ , a few key studies in dissociated neuronal culture show a postsynaptic role for LAR-RPTPs in AMPA receptor retention, particularly GluA2 retention^{109,119,125}. These studies suggested that the internal phosphatase domains D1 D2 and their ability to interact with liprin- α were important for synaptic AMPAR recruitment. The mechanism by which LARs were proposed to increase retention of AMPARs was based solely on a local synaptic role for LARs in dephosphorylating proximal proteins recruited by liprin- α , without mentioning a possible role in AMPAR transport. Our data indicates that PTP-3A function is required postsynaptically for normal GLR-1 transport and synaptic retention in *C. elegans*. In

addition, two sets of experiments suggest that the extracellular domain of PTP-3A is specifically important for normal GLR-1 transport. First, the *mu256* allele with a premature STOP of all isoforms before the D1 D2 phosphatase domains did not alter GLR-1 transport (**Fig. 2.1**). Second, cell specific expression of the N-terminal Ig-like domains of PTP-3A rescued GLR-1-transport (**Fig. 2.8**) and associative memory (**Fig. 2.9**) when expressed in animals with a complete loss of PTP-3A. These results suggest that the N-terminal extracellular domain of PTP-3A interacts with a binding partner that promotes AMPAR transport and synaptic delivery.

One possibility is that the extracellular domain of PTP-3A is cleaved by proteases. Shedding of the extracellular domain of LARs has been documented in non-neuronal cell culture experiments^{140,141}. Additional experiments show that PKC activation by TPA phorbol ester and calcium ionophore leads to shedding of the extracellular domain and receptor redistribution in cell ¹⁴². A short form of the ectodomain of LAR corresponding to the first 2 lg-Like domains of LAR has been documented in rat brains, and it has an active role as a homophilic ligand of LAR-RPTP¹³⁶. Alternatively, it is possible that the N-terminal of PTP-3A could interact with other yet to be determined receptors similar to how PTP- σ interacts with the receptor tyrosine kinase C (TrkC)¹⁴³. Other cell adhesion molecules (CAMs) of the Immunoglobulin superfamily, such as NCAM1, NCAM2, neuroligins and neurexins have been found to be cleaved^{144,145}. However, a role for signaling of the shed ectodomains for these molecules *in vivo* is unclear. Altogether, our studies of *in vivo* transport of GLR-1 in *C. elegans* reveal the exciting possibility that LARs could be modulating levels of AMPAR transport by a mechanism akin to autocrine signaling.

2.4.2 Regulation of local synaptic GLR-1 levels by PTP-3A/LAR-RPTP

As mentioned above, a few studies have documented a postsynaptic localization and role for LAR-RPTPs in regulating AMPA receptors^{119,129}. These studies suggested that LAR-RPTP function and interaction with local synaptic proteins is the key to recruitment and retention of AMPARs at synapses. Our results show that PTP-3A is acting at two levels of the AMPA receptor trafficking process. The first one pertaining to promoting anterograde transport of AMPARs is discussed above. The second pertains to the regulation of AMPAR synaptic retention by PTP-3A. Our experiments show that loss of PTP-3A not only leads to a 60% decrease in transport events but also changes dendritic transport dynamics, leading to diminished dendritic stops of GLR-1, which we have previously associated with decreased delivery of GLR-1¹¹³. Indeed, analysis of GLR-1 levels in distal synapses (Fig. 2.3) reveals accumulation of GLR-1 in the distal synapses, indicative of a change in GLR-1 distribution in PTP-3A loss of function mutants. Our heat-shock experiments further suggest that rapid translation of PTP-3A is sufficient to rescue transport but not synaptic stopping (Figure 2.2). Altogether, these results corroborate vertebrate findings of a local synaptic role of PTP-3A in AMPAR recruitment. In addition, we show that the mu256 allele of PTP-3 leads to a specific decrease in surface synaptic SEP::GLR-1 signal, indicating lowered exocytosis of PTP-3. This allele of PTP-3 leads to a premature stop at nucleotide position 1776¹²⁶. One possibility is that this leads to a complete loss of all PTP-3 proteins as suggested previously¹⁰⁴. Alternatively, it is possible that truncated PTP-3 proteins are made and transported to synapses. These could be indistinguishable in the previous studies because antibodies against native PTP-3 were directed to the C-terminal region of PTP-3¹⁰⁴. Our data show that in *mu256* alleles, transport of GLR-1 is normal, as are dendritic stops (Figure 2.2) and total GLR-1 numbers

at synapses (**Fig. 2.3A and 2.3B**). This differs significantly from transport and synaptic levels of GLR-1 in the *ok244* and *mu245* alleles, which only led to loss of PTP-3A or PTP-3A&B. Furthermore, cell specific expression of the C-terminal phosphatase domains of PTP-3 in the *mu256* allele (**Fig. 2.8**) was sufficient to rescue synaptic surface expression of GLR-1. These data are more consistent with *mu256* leading to C-terminally truncated form of PTP-3 which is how we have interpreted our data in this study.

FRAP of SEP::GLR-1::mCherry and Photoconversion of GLR-1::Dendra2 reveal a defect for synaptic surface delivery and synaptic retention of GLR-1 in mutants affecting PTP-3A or deleting the phosphatase domains of all PTP-3 isoforms. These data are consistent with a model in which PTP-3 phosphatases are important at synapses to maintain a contingent of GLR-1 receptors. Acute rescue of PTP-3A loss of function using an inducible heat-shock approach further supports a constitutive role for PTP-3A in maintenance of a contingent of synaptic GLR-1. These effects could be mediated by direct dephosphorylation of downstream targets of PTP-3A or interactors which bind to the D2 domain of PTP-3A, similar to what has been observed for vertebrate LAR-RPTPs^{109,119,146}. Genetic evidence has been presented previously for regulation of synaptic SYD-2/liprin- α localization by PTP-3¹²⁶. Since SYD-2 is the *C. elegans* homologue of liprin- α , this speaks to the conservation of the LAR and liprin- α interaction. Thus, it could be that in mutants lacking PTP-3A, a decrease in synaptic GLR-1 levels is due to postsynaptic SYD-2 mislocalization. In vertebrates, LARs, liprin-α, and GRIP-1 form a complex¹⁰⁹ but a close homologue of GRIP-1 in *C. elegans* has not been reported at this point, although mpz-1 and magi-1 could potentially be PDZ containing scaffolds found postsynaptically in C. elegans that may play that role^{11,147–149}. In addition to liprin α , a rho/rac guanine nucleotide exchange factor named Trio can interact with the D2 domain of LAR¹⁵⁰. The *C. elegans* homologue of Trio is UNC-73¹⁵¹ but has not been reported to interact with PTP-3 or modify GLR-1 transport or synaptic abundance.

Potential substrates of PTP-3 tyrosine dephosphorylation in *C. elegans* neurons have been identified. These include: MAPK15, FER, MAPK7, NTRK2 (TrkB), HIPK1, GSK3A, CDK5, MET and PDGFRB¹¹². Interestingly, previous studies have shown that synaptic levels of GLR-1 are decreased in a *cdk-5* loss of function mutant¹⁵². In addition, this study showed that CDK-5 interacted with the clathrin adaptin AP180, regulating GLR-1 levels by acting on GLR-1 endocytosis. Although classical cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs) are usually inactivated by phosphorylation at Y15¹⁵³, the role of this phosphorylation of Y15 and activation of CDK-5 is unclear in vertebrate neurons¹⁵⁴ and unknown in C. elegans. CDK-5's action on the actin cytoskeleton and associated scaffold proteins has been implicated in dendritic spine remodeling¹⁵³. The D1D2 domains of PTP-3A are highly conserved with the D1D2 domains of LAR-RPTP. The D1 domain in vertebrate LAR has many downstream targets including β-catenin which has been shown to co-immunoprecipitate with GLuA2, liprin-α, and GRIP-1^{109,119,155}. GluA2 tyrosine phosphorylation is associated with the internalization of GluA2^{75,115} but it remains to be shown whether GluA2 and GLR-1 can be dephosphorylated by LAR/PTP-3A. Taken together, PTP-3A could be affecting local GLR-1 retention through interactions with scaffolds or via phosphorylation of key downstream targets, including GLR-1.

Although intensely studied in the last 25 years, the regulation of LAR-RPTP activation is not well understood and has been majorly focused on the role of the extracellular domains acting as ligands for trans-synaptic partners. Overall, it is unclear

whether LAR-RPTPs mediate their effect through binding at their D1D2 domains or through activity of the phosphatase D1 domain. In addition, how activity of the phosphatase domains is regulated is not well understood at all. Early models predicted that de-clustering of LAR-RPTPs led to loss of phosphatase activity⁹³, but more recent structural studies suggest that tight clustering of LAR-RPTP could inhibit phosphatase activity since D1 domains can form tight homophilic interactions¹⁰⁷. In this latest model, it is possible that cleavage of LAR could lead to decreased clustering and increased active D1 domains. In this context, it is interesting to note that PKC activation and calcium ionophores lead to internalization of LAR¹⁴². However, PKC activation leads to additional cleavage and shedding of the ectodomain whereas calcium ionophores only lead to internalization. In this configuration, the D1D2 domains would be facing the cytoplasmic side and thus be able to interact with substrates for dephosphorylation, as it appears in Fig. 2.9C. Since it is known that synaptic activity leads to a local increase in PKC activity^{156,157} and lysosomal fusion¹⁵⁸, with release of metalloproteases, it is tempting to speculate that synaptic activity might lead to cleavage of the extracellular and intracellular domains of PTP-3A as shown Fig. 2.9C. At the very least, this provides an interesting model to test for future studies.

2.4.3 A model for coordination of AMPAR transport and synaptic maintenance

Before we had the ability to track AMPA receptor transport and local synaptic trafficking, several signaling mechanisms and synaptic protein functions were classified as affecting AMPAR "trafficking" because the methods at that time could not distinguish between global effects on transport and local synaptic trafficking effects. By combining transport, FRAP, and photoconversion *in vivo* we are now able to better define the spatio-

temporal effects of signaling pathways and synaptic protein functions. Previous studies put the postsynaptic effect of LARs broadly in terms of affecting AMPAR trafficking to synapses¹¹⁹. Here we show that 2 domains of the closest homologue for LAR in *C. elegans*: PTP-3A, have differential effects on transport and local synaptic retention. Our ability to distinguish between transport and local recycling effects enables us to more precisely specify how signaling pathways work to control AMPAR distribution. This powerful approach is now being used in vertebrates with two-photon imaging and shows that AMPARs exist in tunable immobile and mobile fractions¹⁵⁹ consistent with our models in *C. elegans*.

Nevertheless, our approach in *C. elegans* has enabled us to identify 2 domains of PTP-3A with differential effects on GLR-1 trafficking. This dual function could provide an elegant model for the distribution of AMPARs to synapses, in which the cleavage of PTP-3A promotes transport, through the N-terminal autocrine effect, and retention through local liberation of the C-terminal phosphatase domains. This model posits that one signal has global cellular effects on GLR-1 transport, whereas the other only exhibits local effects- seeming to speak to both a homeostatic mechanism and a Hebbian mechanism. The fact that PKC activation has been shown to lead to shedding of the extracellular domain of LAR and internalization of the intracellular phosphatase, whereas calcium chelation by ionophores leads to internalization of the LAR-RPTP without shedding¹⁴², shows that additional synaptic regulatory mechanisms may control the balance between shedding with internalization or only internalization of LAR-RPTPs. Overall, this model is interesting because it bridges homeostatic global modulation and synapse specific
regulation, providing a unified mechanism to maintain synaptic plasticity and a cellular excitatory set point.

2.4.4 How AMPAR transport and synaptic retention affects learning and memory

Although it is now clear that the number and function of AMPARs at synapses can be directly associated with synaptic plasticity and behavioral learning and memory^{66,118,160,161}, the role of long-distance transport in behavioral learning and memory has not been very well studied. The most recent studies to date show that activitydependent regulation of AMPAR transport is necessary for synaptic plasticity^{89,114}. However, we do not as yet understand how this relates to behavioral learning and memory. Obviously many studies, have validated how synaptic plasticity relates to behavioral learning and memory¹⁶¹ but what is unclear is how much transport, delivery, and removal are necessary or sufficient for learning, memory or both. Here we show that both short and long-term associative memory in C. elegans depend on modulation of GLR-1 transport and synaptic retention by the PTP-3A isoform (Fig. 2.5). In addition, we show that PTP-3A is necessary postsynaptically for short and long-term associative memory but not learning. It is interesting to note that loss of PTP-3A does not lead to a complete loss of GLR-1 receptors at synapses but only to 40% decrease. In addition, the mu256 allele, which does not lead to GLR-1 transport defects but only to a defect in synaptic retention, also shows defects in STAM and LTAM. Taken together these data suggest that synaptic retention of GLR-1 is essential for STAM and LTAM. Surprisingly although restoring expression of PTP-3A N-terminal 2 Ig-Like domains by AVA, only rescues transport to ~80% of Control (Fig. 2.8), and 70% of synaptic surface GLR1, it completely rescues STAM and LTAM (Fig. 2.9A and 2.9B). Taken together, these results

strongly suggest that transport and mobility provided by GLR-1 transport is essential for this type of behavioral memory with perhaps an additional role for the N-terminal extracellular domain of PTP-3A. Although, seemingly specific to *C. elegans*, this behavioral paradigm has been used to reveal molecular conservation of genes important for memory in both *C. elegans* and humans^{133,162,163}. Overall, our study reveals that the PTP-3A isoform of PTP-3, a *C. elegans* homologue of vertebrate LAR, has essential functions in regulating the coordinated transport and retention of AMPARs critical for behavioral associative short and long-term memory. Our data reveal a new function for PTP-3/LAR in regulating AMPAR transport and that AMPAR transport is crucial for short and long-term associative memory.

2.5 Materials and Methods

2.5.1 *C. elegans* culture and strains

C. elegans strains were kept on NGM and fed the *E. coli* strain OP50 at 20°C. Double and triple mutants were generated by standard genetic methods. For a list of PCR genotyping primers, enzymes and phenotypes see Table 2.1. Transgenic strains were created by microinjection of *lin-15 (n765ts)* worms with plasmids containing the LIN-15 rescue or microinjection of pCT61 encoding *egl-20p::nls::DsRed* to expressing DsRed in the nucleus of four epithelial cells in the tail to visualize rescued worms⁸⁵.

2.5.2 C. elegans transgenes

akls201, rig-3p::SEP::GLR-1::mCherry; akls154; rig-3p::HA::glr-1::Dendra2; CsfEx 14, PTP-3p::PTP-3A::HA; csfEx75, flp-18p::PTP-3A::HA; CsfEx131, flp-18p::PTP-3A::HA; CsfEx132, flp-18p::PTP-3A-Nterm::HA; csfEx133, flp-18p::PTP-3A-Cterm::HA; csfEx135, Hsp16-2p::PTP-3A::HA.

Table 2.1				
Gene	Allele	Mutation	Functional Change	
glr-1	ky176	Premature stop	Truncated, unfunctional receptor	
ptp-3	ok244	Premature stop	Loss of PTP-3A	
ptp-3	mu245	Premature stop	Loss of Isoforms A and B	
ptp-3	mu256	Premature stop	Loss of phosphatase domain of gene	
lin-15	n765ts	Frameshift mutation	Protein null	

2.5.3 Plasmids and cloning

All generated plasmids were made by the Takara In-Fusion cloning method. Plasmids were created by PCR linearization and subsequent inserting of desired sequence by complimentary overhangs created by the PCR linearization. Primers were designed using Takara's In-Fusion primer design tool.

The *ptp-3p::PTP-3A* plasmid was generously donated by Dr. Brian Ackley. Using the Taraka Bio's In-Fusion PCR primer tool, the PTP-3 promoter was swapped for the AVA specific FLP-18 promoter. This plasmid was then used to generate the *flp-18p::PTP-3A_Nterm* keeping amino acids 1-232 and deleting the rest using In-Fusion primers-leading to a secretion sequence followed by 2 lg-Like domains and then a STOP. A similar strategy was used for *flp-18p::PTP-3A_Cterm*, in which In-Fusion primers resulted inresults led to the retention of amino acids 5986-6543 or a stretch of 556 aa. The same replacement strategy using In-Fusion as the one described for pflp-18 was used for swapping in the *hsp-16p* promoter for inducible heat-shock.

2.5.4 Confocal Imaging

Imaging was conducted on a spinning disk confocal microscope (Olympus IX83) equipped with 488 and 561 nm excitation lasers (Andor ILE Laser Combiner). Images were captured using an Andor iXon Ultra EMCCD camera through either a 10x/0.40 or a

100x/1.40 oil objective (Olympus). Devices were controlled remotely for image acquisition using MetaMorph 7.10.1 (Molecular Devices).

Transport imaging: All imaging was performed on worms containing the akls201 array in glr-1 null (*ky176*) background. Worms were mounted on a 10% agarose pad with 1.6μl of a mixture of polystyrene beads (Polybead, catalog #00876-15, Polysciences) and 30μM Muscimol (catalog #195336, MP Biomedicals). Using a coverslip, worms were positioned such that the AVA neuron was near the coverslip to allow for clear visualization. Through the 100X objective, the neurons were located using the 561 nm excitation laser, then, a cross section in the proximal portion of AVA neurites was photobleached using a 3 W 488 nm Coherent solid-state laser Coherent solid-state laser (Genesis MX MTM) set to 0.5 W output and a pulse time of 1 s targeted using a Mosaic II digital mirror device (Andor Mosaic 3). After photobleaching, a 500-frame stream was collected at 100 ms exposure per frame with the 561 nm excitation laser in a single z plane. Kymographs were generated by the Kymograph tool in MetaMorph with a 20-pixel line width as described in^{85,113}.

FRAP: Worms containing akls201 were mounted as described in the **Transport imaging** section. A proximal region of AVA just distal of the bifurcation of AVAL and AVAR was used as the imaging region and was saved using MetaMorph's stage position memory function. An image stack was acquired using the 488nm and 561nm excitation lasers at 500ms exposure (20 total images every 0.25um starting 2.5µm below to 2.5µm above the neuron). Around 60um to the left and right of the process was photobleached using the same parameters described earlier. Finally, using the stage memory position, the initial process location was photobleached and then immediately imaged with both excitation

lasers. Imaging was repeated at 2-, 4-, 8-, 12-, and 16-minutes time points post photobleach.

Photoconversion: All photoconversion was performed on worms containing the akIs154 (GLR-1::Dendra2) array in GLR-1 null (Ky176) backgrounds. 2-3 synaptic puncta were converted using an ROI selection tool a 500ms pulse of 35mW/mm² from a 405nm laser (475mW, LDC8, Power Technologies Inc.). Immediately following photoconversion, 20 images were taken using both 561nm and 488 excitation lasers starting 2.5µm below and finishing 2.5µm above the process at 500ms intervals. This was repeated at times 2, 4-, 8-, 12-, and 16-minutes post-conversion. For 2-hour imaging, the same process as above was performed but after pictures were taken immediately after photoconversion, worms are taken off the microscope. Worms were then taken off the pad and let go on a normal plate with food for 2 hours. Once the time had passed, worms were placed back on a new coverslip and the photoconverted synapses were imaged.

2.5.5 Short-term and long-term associative olfactory memory

Assays were conducted as described previously¹³². Briefly, animals were synchronized using the egg preparation method¹⁶⁴. For all conditions, the chemotaxis of the animals after treatment was tested the following way: 80-150 worms were placed in the center of a 10cm chemotaxis plates (CTX 5 mM KH₂PO₄/K₂HPO₄ [pH 6.0], 1 mM CaCl₂, 1 mM MgSO₄, 2% agar) with 1 µl of Sodium Azide 1M, and either 1% diacetyl(DIA) in EtOH or EtOH alone on each side of the plate. After 45 min at room temperature with closed lids, animals immobilized at the 0.1% Diacetyl, at the EtOH and outside of the spots were counted. The Chemotaxis index was calculated as follows: CI= (Nb Animals 0.1%DIA- Nb Animals EtOH)/ Total number of animals as described in Bargmann *et. al.*,1993¹⁶⁵.

Counting of animals on the plates was done blind to the genotype. The chemotaxis assay was conducted in triplicate for each genotype and for each condition and repeated a minimum of 3 times. Data from all chemotaxis assays for each condition and genotype were combined to generate the average CI per genotype and condition. For STAM, 80-150 worms were conditioned for 1-hour without food in the presence of 2µl diacetyl on the top of the lid of a 10cm CTX plate. Animals were then either tested immediately (1x cond) or left for 1 hour on NGM with OP50 and tested for STAM (1h memory). For LTAM, the 1hour conditioning was repeated with a 30-minute interval in between conditioning sessions where worms were able to roam on plates with food. After the second conditioning, worms were either immediately test for chemotaxis or put on NGM plates with OP50 for 24 hours before LTAM was tested (24h memory).

2.5.6 Image analysis

Transport: Transport event quantification was performed blinded to the genotype and manually counted. Transport velocities were blindly quantified by manually tracing transport events and subsequently analyzed using the KymoAnalyzer ImageJ plugin (Neumann et al., 2017).

FRAP: Image stacks from all time points were converted to maximum projections using MetaMorph's stack arithmetic function. Average fluorescence from all timepoints was analyzed using the region measurement tool of ImageJ. To account for initial background fluorescence of time 0 post photobleach, the average fluorescence of timepoint 0 was subtracted from each timepoint's average fluorescence.

Dendra: Image stacks from all timepoints were converted to max projections using MetaMorph's stack arithmetic tool. Photoconverted synaptic puncta fluorescence was

quantified using ImageJ's region measurement tool by outlining the puncta. The same area measurement was used for all timepoints of the same image.

2.5.7 Statistical Analyses

For all analyses with less or equal to three groups a non-parametric Mann-Whitney *U*-test was used. For all microscopy data analyses with more than 3 groups except FRAP and Dendra2 photoconversion, and data with equal variations an ordinary one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's multiple testing correction was used to determine significance. To determine if the FRAP recovery curve and Dendra2 fluorescence removal were significantly different between genotypes a sum of square F-test applied to the exponential fits of the data were used. For analyses of short term and long-term associative memory (STAM and LTAM), a 2-way ANOVA with Bonferroni correction for multiple testing was used. All statistics were done use Prism Version 9.1.2.

2.6 Author Contributions

Pierce DR and Hoerndli FJ, conceived and designed all experiments except behavioral associative learning experiments for the manuscript. DP did all experiments and recorded data for the manuscript except for the associative learning behavior. Heat-shock synaptic rescue of PTP-3A(*ok244*), was performed and analyzed by ZL and KK. Molecular cloning and creation of transgenic strains was conducted by DP with aid from Doser RL. Stettak A, designed, recorded, and analyzed the data for all associative learning behavior experiments. Hoerndli FJ wrote the manuscript. Stettak A, Pierce DP, Doser RL and Lenninger Z, gave feedback and input on the manuscript. Stacher Hoerndli CN created the Figure model in Figure 2.9C.

CHAPTER 3: The role of SYD-2 in postsynaptic AMPAR transport and synaptic plasticity

3. Summary

Coordinated efforts from synthesis of AMPARs at the cell body to delivery of these receptors at synapses are critical processes in maintaining excitatory neurotransmission. However, this poses a challenge to neurons since these all of these processes need to be working correctly or else it can lead to decreased neurotransmission which can cause cognitive defects and impairments in learning and memory. In Chapter 2, we show that loss of the phosphatase PTP-3A causes defects in glutamate receptor-1 (GLR-1) transport, delivery, and removal in *C. elegans*. The liprin- α family of proteins are known to interact with LAR-RPTPs in vertebrates where they have shown to be critical in correct localization of LAR as well as critical in AMPAR trafficking. However, these studies have not determined if the effects seen on AMPAR trafficking are directly due to liprin- α or because of mislocalization of LAR. The *C. elegans* sole homologue of liprin- α , SYD-2, is known to modulate presynaptic active zone maintenance. The interactions between SYD-2 and PTP-3A are not well understood in *C. elegans* and SYD-2's possible role in AMPAR transport has not been identified. The data that I am presenting in this chapter are unpublished and is work that I have performed alone. My data suggest that SYD-2 and PTP-3A are in the same genetic pathway that modulate GLR-1 transport and that SYD-2 may have additional effects on synaptic GLR-1.

3.1 Introduction

When we first discovered that PTP-3A could be regulating synaptic GLR-1 from a retention and transport point of view, I knew an important protein like this had to have tight regulation. Vertebrate literature based on cell culture experiments, suggested that

activity-dependent degradation of liprin- α by CaMKII is responsible for cellular localization of LAR¹⁶⁶. Indeed, when a non-degradable form of liprin- α is expressed in neurons, there is little LAR present at spines, indicating that the degradation of liprin- α is what is driving LAR to spines¹²⁹. This idea is somewhat confounded by another finding in the same paper¹²⁹ where overexpression of liprin- α in heterologous cells causes increased surface expression and clustering of LAR. This could be that the interaction of exogenous expression in non-neuronal cells causes liprin- α to work differently. However, another role of liprin-α suggests it can bind to LAR intracellularly while LAR is at the synaptic surface and inhibit its phosphatase function by clustering LAR¹⁰⁷. In fact, liprin-α is known to colocalize with PSD-95 and GluA2/3 indicating it is expressed in dendritic spines. Liprin- α could have additional roles apart from just being an LAR regulator, however. A study on the interaction between liprin- α and glutamate receptor-interacting protein (GRIP) revealed that when this binding was inhibited, synaptic AMPAR targeting was disrupted and this could be induced by just mutating the GRIP binding domain on liprin- α^{109} . The difficulty in assessing this result is that they did not address if LAR function/localization was changed in these mutants. Since GRIP is known to traffic GluA2/3 to the membrane surface, it is likely that GRIP can bind the liprin- α /LAR complex and traffic it to the surface as well. Therefore, it is suggested that liprin- α may have more than one function on AMPAR localization which may be dependent, or independent of LAR. LAR activity is difficult to study in vivo in vertebrates since it is not highly expressed^{93,129}. Thus, using the relatively simple C. elegans model, which has one sole homologue of liprin- α , we can expand on this knowledge to better understand how the liprin-α/LAR interaction is involved in AMPAR trafficking in vivo.

The *C. elegans* sole liprin- α homologue, SYD-2, is mainly known for its presynaptic role in active zone formation and correct localization of neurotransmitter-containing vesicles¹²⁸. The postsynaptic interaction between PTP-3A and SYD-2 is unknown in *C. elegans*. Not only that, but a role for SYD-2 in GLR-1 transport of synaptic localization is also currently unknown in *C. elegans*. Given the evolutionary conservation between these two proteins and results from **Chapter 2**, it is plausible that SYD-2 could be regulating PTP-3A activity and be important in excitatory synapse maintenance.

3.2 Main findings

3.2.1 Loss of SYD-2 causes decreased synaptic GLR-1 numbers

We showed in **Chapter 2** the importance that PTP-3A has on surface synaptic expression of GLR-1 which is largely due to the phosphatase domain. We hypothesize that this phenotype relies on PTP-3A being at active synapses. Since SYD-2 is a possible regulator of PTP-3A localization, this naturally led us to test if SYD-2 is an upstream regulator of synaptic GLR-1.



To test this, we used the ok217 allele of SYD-2 which causes a premature stop and is considered function null¹⁶⁷. Loss of SYD-2 causes reduced amount of synaptic GLR-1 (mCherry channel) and reduced surface expression (SEP channel) in the proximal portion of AVA **Fig 3.1A.** Double mutants of ok244 and ok217 were generated and have significantly reduced mCherry and SEP fluorescence that is similar to the single ok217mutants. The ok244 single mutant has significantly higher mCherry and SEP fluorescence than both the single ok217 and double ok244;ok217 mutants. These results suggest that PTP-3A and SYD-2 may act in the same genetic signaling pathway to regulate synaptic GLR-1 but that SYD-2 may also have additional synaptic roles.

3.2.2 Loss of SYD-2 increases AMPAR transport

The finding that loss of SYD-2 decreases synaptic GLR-1 led us to test trafficking steps that precede synaptic localization of GLR-1, such as long-distance AMPAR transport. If the decreased synaptic GLR-1 phenotype we are observing is similar to that in PTP-3A mutants, then this could be caused in part, due to reduced transport.



Surprisingly, loss of SYD-2 causes an almost 50% increase in AMPAR transport compared to wild-type (**Fig 3.2B**). Interestingly, there is no statistical difference between *ok244;ok217* and wild-type. This intermediate phenotype, although significantly different from *ok244*, is trending towards a decrease as seen in the *ok244* single mutants, which

could be due to the limited number of worms analyzed. Differing from **Fig 3.1**, these results suggest that PTP-3A and SYD-2 may not be in the same genetic pathway that regulates GLR-1 transport.

3.2.3 SYD-2 is required for synaptic stabilization of AMPARs

The difficulty of imaging synapses at a single point in time is that it only gives information for that particular moment in time. It could be that there is less GLR-1 at a synapse due to less being delivered, or more being removed, which a snapshot does not tell you. To address this, both delivery and removal of GLR-1 needs to be analyzed to acquire a comprehensive picture. Since we observed less total and surface synaptic GLR-1 in syd-2(lf) mutants (Fig 3.1), but increased GLR-1 transport in these mutants (Fig 3.2), we hypothesized that the decreased synaptic GLR-1 could be due to an increased removal of GLR-1. Unlike in **Chapter 2** where the GLR-1::Dendra2 removal experiment is over a 16-minute trial, the original protocol called for a 2-hour trial. The 2-hour protocol requires animals to be removed from the microscope where they roam and feed freely before imaging again. Fig 3.3A briefly outlines the Dendra2 protocol: individual puncta are photoconverted by UV light, the worms are then removed from the confocal microscope and left on a normal feeding plate for 2 hours. After this time, the same puncta are imaged for retention of the photoconverted receptors. As seen in Fig 3.3B and quantified in **3.3C**, the amount of photoconverted receptors still present at the synapse after 2 hours in wild-type is 65% whereas both the single ok217 and double ok244; ok217 mutants exhibit almost 0% retention after 2 hours.



Taken together, these results lead to three key conclusions. First, that PTP-3A and

SYD-2 most likely act in the same genetic signaling pathway to regulate GLR-1 synaptic levels. Second, that although GLR-1 synaptic levels are decreased in both SYD-2 and PTP-3A loss of function mutants, loss of SYD-2 does not decrease transport of GLR-1 as does loss of PTP-3A. Third, loss of SYD-2 leads to lowered synaptic GLR-1 not because of impaired transport, but because of impaired synaptic retention. Altogether, these results suggest a possible model where SYD-2 localizes PTP-3A to the synapse. If PTP-3A is unable to be trafficked to active synapses, its function in regulating delivery and

removal of GLR-1 would not occur, which is what is seen in *syd-2(lf)* mutants. However, we know the N-terminal domain of PTP-3A can regulate transport, possibly independent of it being at synapses. Therefore, if PTP-3A is retained at the cell body, it could possibly be activating GLR-1 transport independent of SYD-2.

3.3 Discussion and future directions

In conclusion, these preliminary results suggest that SYD-2 is an important regulator of synaptic GLR-1. The data I have collected establish a foundation on how SYD-2 may interact with PTP-3A to regulate GLR-1 transport and may be an important step towards understanding the role of SYD-2 in synaptic plasticity.

syd-2(If) mutants have reduced synaptic GLR-1 which is likely due to increased GLR-1 removal. If one of the key functions of SYD-2 is to correctly localize PTP-3A, then in *syd-2(If)* mutants, PTP-3A would likely not be at synapses unless it can diffuse out from the cell body. This would result in synapses that phenotypically look like *ptp-3(ok244)* mutants which is what we observed **Fig 3.1**. However, the significant decrease of synaptic GLR-1 in *syd-2(If)* mutants compared to *ptp-3(ok244)* mutants suggests that SYD-2 might possess additional roles for regulating synaptic GLR-1 aside from solely being a PTP-3A chaperone.

We have identified that the phosphatase domain of PTP-3A is the main domain controlling retention of synaptic GLR-1. If SYD-2 is controlling PTP-3A localization, then *syd-2(lf)* mutants should have decreased retention of synaptic GLR-1 since PTP-3A is absent from the synapse, which is what we observed in **Fig 3.3**. This result is consistent to what is observed in vertebrates as Wyszynski *et. al.* suggests liprin- α regulates the synaptic targeting of AMPARs¹⁰⁹. However, the researchers do not distinguish if liprin- α

regulates the delivery or removal of receptors to the synapse. Therefore, the decreased synaptic AMPAR expression they observe in liprin- α mutants could be due to an increased removal of AMPARs. It is also possible that there is a fundamental difference in *C. elegans* compared to vertebrates since.

Caveats, **alternative interpretations**, **and future directions**. A large assumption of the interpretation of these results is that SYD-2 binds to PTP-3A similar to how liprin- α binds to LAR. However, it could be that SYD-2 does not interact with PTP-3A and is acting in an independent pathway of PTP-3A to regulate AMPAR transport and trafficking. To test if SYD-2 has an interaction with PTP-3A, co-immunoprecipitation assays should be performed. However, since proteins can co-immunoprecipitate without directly binding to each other, predicted binding sites of SYD-2 on PTP-3A should be mutated to test if this interferes with co-immunoprecipitation. Another way to test whether SYD-2 and PTP-3A associate *in vivo* is to test their co-localization using fluorescent tags on SYD-2 or PTP-3A or both. Mislocalization of PTP-3A in *syd-2(if)* mutants would indicate that similar to liprin- α and LAR-RPTPs in vertebrates, SYD-2 is necessary for synaptic localization of PTP-3A. What if SYD-2 is mislocalized in *ptp-3(ok244)* mutants? Then perhaps PTP-3A and SYD-2 localization is interdependent.

There are a few alternative explanations to our results which could explain the observed decreased synaptic GLR-1 phenotype. For instance, we do not know if synaptic delivery of GLR-1 is impaired. Given our strong GLR-1 removal phenotype, it is unlikely that delivery of GLR-1 would be decreased or else the synapse would have significantly less GLR-1 then what is observed in the *syd-2(lf)* mutants. To test this, FRAP experiments should be performed to better understand the effect that SYD-2 has on GLR-1 synaptic

targeting. Further, it is possible that loss of SYD-2 causes decrease transcription/translation of GLR-1. Although there is no known evidence that SYD-2/liprin- α causes decreased overall expression of AMPARs, we cannot rule it out. Thus, cell body and whole neuron fluorescent imaging in *syd-2(lf)* mutants would reveal if there is a global decrease of GLR-1 in the AVA neurons.

SYD-2 is known to be important in presynaptic development and it could be that the phenotype we are observing is largely due to a presynaptic role¹²⁸. SYD-2 is involved in presynaptic active-zone development and helps to recruit neurotransmitter-containing vesicles. Since *C. elegans* exhibit a form homeostatic plasticity, it is possible that loss of SYD-2 disrupts glutamate release onto postsynaptic receptors. The only known inducible form of homeostatic plasticity in worms is when presynaptic glutamate release is inhibited which causes an increase in AMPAR expression on postsynaptic neurons¹⁶⁸. Given that *syd-2(lf)* mutants have decreased postsynaptic GLR-1, it could be that there is an increase of glutamate release which would presumably cause a homeostatic downscaling of GLR-1. It is difficult in worms to increase presynaptic glutamate release, either by inducible factors or genetic pathways. Therefore, the best way to test this would be for AVA specific expression of SYD-2 to determine if this can rescue the decreased synaptic GLR-1 phenotype.

There is evidence in vertebrates that binding of liprin-α to LAR dimerizes the D1 phosphatase domains and inactivates LAR¹⁰⁷. If these functions are evolutionarily conserved, this would suggest that SYD-2 can regulate PTP-3A activity. To explore this possibility, a conditional knockout of SYD-2 in the AVA neuron can be engineered with the auxin-induced degradation (AID) system¹⁶⁹. Proteins can be tagged with an AID and

when exogenously expressed, the F-Box protein TIR1 can recruit the ubiquitin machinery to the AID and causes degradation, but only in the presence of auxin. This would allow for PTP-3A to be present at synapses and if presence of SYD-2 is responsible in inhibiting PTP-3A activity, conditional knockout of SYD-2 would not have the same defect of synaptic GLR-1 seen in *syd-2(lf)* mutants. By conditionally knocking out SYD-2 then testing for GLR-1 retention, this would help to uncover if SYD-2 is controlling PTP-3A activity/localization. If conditional knockout of SYD-2 has wild-type levels of GLR-1 retention, it is hypothesized that the decrease seen in *syd-2(lf)* mutants is likely from mislocalization of PTP-3A.

Loss of SYD-2 increases GLR-1 transport. Our results demonstrate that in *syd-2(lf)* mutants, there is a ~1.5x increase in GLR-1 transport. Vertebrate literature has identified that liprin- α can directly bind to the kinesin-3 motor, KIF1A in the coiled-coiled 2 (CC2) and CC3 regions¹⁷⁰. Interestingly, the CC2 domain is known to regulate KIF1A activity by blocking interactions with microtubules and contributes to autoinhibition of the motor¹⁷¹. Different mutations in the autoinhibition regions of KIF1A cause overactive motors that have increased processivity¹⁷². Thus, it is possible that liprin- α can bind to the CC3 region (which has no autoinhibition effect), then by some signaling mechanism, liprin- α binds the CC2 region to halt transport, possibly at activated synapses. When liprin- α is not present then, the CC2 domain cannot be inhibited and thus the transport machinery would increase transport of Cargo. Although the kinesin-1 motor KIF5 is largely responsible for long-distance transport of GLR-1 in AVA in *C. elegans*, it is possible SYD-2 could interact with the KIF5 autoinhibition domains. Therefore, a possible hypothesis would be that the SYD-2/KIF5 interaction could behave like the mechanism of liprin- $\alpha/KIF1A$ in long-

distance transport. Therefore, the increased transport of GLR-1 in *syd-2(lf)* mutants could be due to autoinhibition being disrupted. Further, if the processivity of receptors is increased, this would cause mislocalization of receptors at synapses which could be why we observe decreased synaptic GLR-1 in *syd-2(lf)* mutants.

Caveats, alternative interpretations, and future directions. In vertebrate cell culture, liprin- α has also been shown to regulate LAR activity, it is possible that in *syd-2(lf)* mutants, PTP-3A is fully active, but is still retained in the cell body **Fig 3.4**. This could possibly explain why GLR-1 transport is increased in *syd-2(lf)* mutants. What if PTP-3A accumulation in the cell body causes off target binding that would normally not happen if it were chaperoned correctly? To test this, different domains of either SYD-2 or PTP-3A could be mutated such that there would be no association between them. This would keep the relative function of both proteins unchanged, except for their binding. If SYD-2 cannot bind PTP-3A, and thus accumulates in the cell body, it is hypothesized that GLR-1 transport would look similar to *syd-2(lf)* mutants.



of these effects may reduce synaptic function.

3.4 Materials and Methods

3.4.1 *C. elegans* culture and strains

All C. elegans strains were kept on NGM and fed the E. coli strain OP50 at 20°C as

outlined in Chapter 2.5.1.

3.4.2 C. elegans transgenes

akls201, rig-3p::SEP::GLR-1::mCherry; akls154; rig-3p::HA::glr-1::Dendra2.

Table 3.1				
Gene	Allele	Mutation	Functional Change	
glr-1	ky176	Premature stop	Truncated, unfunctional receptor	
ptp-3	ok244	Premature stop	Loss of PTP-3A	
syd-2	ok217	Frameshift mutation ¹⁷³	Protein null	

3.5 Confocal Imaging

Imaging was conducted on a spinning disk confocal microscope (Olympus IX83) and all

transport and photoconversion imaging was conducted as described in Chapter 2.5.4.

CHAPTER 4: Overall conclusion and future directions

I was once told that a good PhD would open the door to more questions rather than only give answers. Although my work gave a novel outlook on the regulation of longdistance transport and delivery of AMPARs by the phosphatase PTP-3A, it opened the door to many important questions. My thesis began by trying to identify regulators of longdistance AMPAR transport and how this pathway could regulate synaptic plasticity. I was fortunate enough that the regulator I identified and have dedicated my PhD to, the phosphatase PTP-3A, not only has a role in AMPAR transport, but in synaptic stabilization of AMPARs as well. The idea that PTP-3A may be involved in regulating postsynaptic AMPAR expression is not a novel idea, since LAR is shown to regulate synaptic AMPAR numbers in vertebrates. However, its role in AMPAR transport has not been explored in vertebrates nor C. elegans. In this conclusion chapter, I review my data presented in Chapters 2 and 3 and how these data fit in the larger picture of AMPAR transport. I also expand on possible future directions of the project and how these questions can help us better understand the mechanism behind PTP-3A's modulatory effects on AMPAR transport.

Loss of PTP-3 causes reduced synaptic GLR-1. Our results demonstrate a need for the phosphatase PTP-3A in modulating the number of synaptic GLR-1 in *C. elegans in vivo*. RPTP involvement in excitatory postsynaptic transmission was previously documented by Dunah and colleagues, showing reduced expression of surface AMPARs in dissociated neuronal cell cultures using LAR dominant negative constructs and RNAi¹⁷⁴. They argued that this could be due to an overall reduced synapse density which would cause less AMPARs to be expressed. However, our results *in vivo* indicate that

synapse density is unchanged in PTP-3A mutants and the decreased synaptic GLR-1 we observed is not due to an overall decrease of the GLR-1 protein (**Figure 2.4**). In vertebrates, it is proposed that the decreased synapse density observed in LAR mutants is due to loss of its interaction with extracellular matrix proteins that are responsible in stabilization and growth of the spine. A substrate of LAR is β -catenin which when dephosphorylated, accumulates in the dendritic spine¹⁷⁵. Therefore, it is hypothesized that upon a strong stimulus, activation of postsynaptic LAR results in β -catenin accumulation which stabilizes and allows the spine to grow. Since there are no known neuronal spines in *C. elegans*, we cannot rule out the possibility of PTP-3A being involved in synapse structure remodeling, however, our results suggest that PTP-3A might be involved in more than just structural organization.

The amount of synaptic AMPARs at a given time is loosely dependent on two main factors: how many are delivered and how many are removed, which then equate to the amount present at a given time. Our results suggest that the decreased synaptic GLR-1 in *ptp-3(ok244)* mutants is from decreased delivery and increased removal of receptors. The interplay between phosphorylation and dephosphorylation is critical for regulating both AMPAR surface expression and endocytosis. Although direct Ser/Thr phosphorylation of AMPARs are the main forms of phosphorylation that control their trafficking, there are tyrosine phosphorylation sites on GluA2 that are responsible for receptor endocytosis¹⁷⁶. Indeed, phosphorylation of Y876 on GluA2 is required for activity-dependent internalization¹⁷⁷. Although tyrosines on AMPARs have not been reported to be substrates of RPTPs, the tyrosine phosphorylation mutants of GluA2 outlined by Hayashi and Huganir exhibit behavior similar to GLR-1 that we observe in *ptp*-

3(ok244) mutants¹⁷⁷. In C. elegans, the amino acid conservation between GLR-1 and GluA2 is roughly the same as GLR-1 to GluA1¹⁷⁸. In Y876F GluA2 mutants, there is less overall GluA2 at synapses and at the surface. However, they did not discern if this was from decreased insertion or increased internalization. Our results suggest that the dual phosphatase domain of PTP-3A is involved in synaptic cell surface expression and also removal of synaptic AMPARs. Support for PTP-3A mainly being involved in removal of GLR-1 comes from the GLR-1::Dendra2 photoconversion and removal experiments showing decreased removal in mutants with loss of PTP-3A. Also, from genetic experiments using loss of function mutants for the clathrin adaptin AP180 (Figure 2.7) or C. elegans UNC-11 necessary for clathrin-mediated endocytosis of GLR-1. This second set of experiments with unc-11(If) mutants suggest that when clathrin-mediated endocytosis is blocked, there is roughly a two-fold increase in surface expressed GLR-1 in ptp-3(ok244) mutants (Figure 2.7). In these mutants, if PTP-3A was mainly required for exocytosis of receptors onto the cell surface, then blocking clathrin-mediated endocytosis would not show the large increase in retained surface expression. Interestingly, when the phosphatase domain was overexpressed in the PTP-3 phosphatase deleted ptp-3(mu256) mutants, there was rescue of surface expression of GLR-1 but did not affect the total endosomal pool of receptors. Not only does this suggest that the phosphatase domain is important for retaining receptors at the synapse, it also suggests that the N-terminal portion may be regulating delivery of receptors to synapses. This expands on knowledge in both the C. elegans and vertebrate literature which previously did not demonstrate how PTP-3A/LAR may be affecting synaptic AMPAR numbers.

Caveats, alternative interpretations, and future directions. Since PTP-3A has components of a cell adhesion molecule (CAM) and a phosphatase domain, it is possible these two domains can act independently of each other. Our result showing that the Nterminal section of PTP-3A can partially rescue synaptic GLR-1 in ptp-3(ok244) mutants is difficult to interpret since we do not know how it is affecting the delivery or removal rate of GLR-1. It is possible that the N-terminal section is activating a retrograde signal that induces the delivery of GLR-1 at synapses. This is a more plausible hypothesis than the N-terminal portion controlling removal of GLR-1 since we know from the *ptp-3(mu256)* experiments that it is the phosphatase domain and not the N-terminal portion controlling removal. These results suggest that activation of PTP-3A might be more complicated than what was previously identified. In vertebrates, a leading hypothesis is that when LAR's Nterminal domain is proteolytically cleaved, this leads to disassociation of the phosphatase domain from the surface and subsequent degradation. Although we cannot rule out this possibility, overexpression of a diffuse form of the phosphatase domain can partially rescue surface expression of GLR-1. This suggests that disassociation from the surface membrane and degradation are not directly correlated in our system. If this is true, then overexpression of the phosphatase domain in *ptp-3(ok244)* mutants should show similar rescue of surface GLR-1 which still needs to be tested.

There are a plethora of experiments and questions that can be asked based on our synaptic GLR-1 trafficking results. However, one of the fundamental questions that arise from these data is how is PTP-3A regulating delivery of receptors to synapses? One of the biggest unknowns in the AMPAR trafficking field is the signal that causes receptors to be unloaded from microtubule-driven motors to synaptic endosomal pools. It seems that the N-terminal section is controlling this process, however, it is difficult to assess if PTP-3A is controlling this from the synapse or the vesicle. A possible way to test this would be to acutely inactivate PTP-3A in a region then assess delivery rates of GLR-1 using FRAP. If PTP-3A is controlling delivery from the synapse, then inactivation would lead to decreased delivery and if it is regulating delivery from the vesicle complex, delivery of GLR-1 would be unchanged from wild type.

How does GLR-1 transport affect synaptic function? Our fundamental knowledge of synaptic plasticity largely comes from the idea that synapses change and adapt depending on the information they are receiving. A large assumption that is made in vertebrate models of AMPAR synaptic trafficking is that upstream pathways, such as long-distance AMPAR transport, are normal. Thus, it is difficult to accurately interpret synaptic results that involve AMPAR trafficking without considering how long-distance AMPAR transport is changed. This is why using a model such as *C. elegans* is such an attractive organism to study this pathway since we can manipulate this mechanism *in vivo*. Although the concept that synaptic defects in AMPAR numbers could be due to impaired long-distance transport has been posited in literature, our understanding of how long-distance AMPAR transport can affect synaptic trafficking is minimal. Our results suggest that PTP-3A is required for normal long-distance AMPAR transport. Thus, I want to use this section to instead explain how our results help to further our knowledge of how AMPAR transport can affect synaptic function.

One of the fundamental papers of my thesis has suggested that the amount of AMPAR transport is correlated with synaptic activity, i.e. hyperpolarization of the postsynaptic neuron decreases AMPAR transport⁹. Further, results published by our lab

in Doser et. al. 2020, suggest that decreased intracellular Ca2+ levels decreases AMPAR transport¹⁷⁹. Although we cannot definitively say if intracellular Ca²⁺ levels are changed in any of the PTP-3A and SYD-2 mutants, we can assume that there is decreased levels since there is decreased surface expression of GLR-1. If this is true, our *ptp-3(mu256*) and syd-2(If) results suggest that GLR-1 transport is not directly related to the amount of intracellular Ca²⁺. What are the implications of these results on vertebrate studies? Recently, the evolutionary conservation of CaMKII's activity and the relation between intracellular Ca²⁺ levels and AMPAR transport numbers were shown to be conserved between *C. elegans* and vertebrates⁸⁹. In this study, even 15-minutes after induction of LTP in disassociated neurons, intracellular Ca²⁺ levels are similar to non-LTP induced neurons although there is increased AMPAR transport⁸⁹. Therefore, the mechanism that regulates AMPAR transport may rely on increased intracellular Ca²⁺ to ignite increased AMPAR transport but is not entirely dependent on Ca²⁺ to sustain this increase. Thus, it is possible to speculate that there exists signaling cascades which control AMPAR transport that are specifically activated by extreme intracellular Ca²⁺ levels that remain activated in the absence of Ca²⁺. Moreover, SYD-2 might be involved in limiting the activation of this pathway and when not expressed, there is increased AMPAR transport.

Caveats, alternative interpretations, and future directions. PTP-3A is known to be important in presynaptic axon guidance and synapse formation in *C. elegans* via connections to the postsynapse, therefore it is possible that its activation through retrograde signaling could be a mechanism to regulate AMPAR transport. Since the ectodomain that contains the Ig-like domains, which are a common ligand motif, can be shed, it is logical that it could disassociate from the presynapse and activate a

postsynaptic signaling cascade that regulates AMPAR transport. Although this is a possibility, we hypothesize that this is not the main mechanism of action. First, postsynaptic expression of PTP-3A alone is sufficient to rescue the defect seen in *ptp-3(ok244)* mutants. If presynaptic PTP-3A alone was controlling postsynaptic AMPAR transport, or if it was an additive of both pre and postsynaptic PTP-3A, we would have observed partial rescue of AMPAR transport in our PTP-3A AVA expressed worms. Surprisingly, expression of only the Ig-like domains of PTP-3A in AVA is sufficient to rescue the decreased AMPAR transport phenotype in *ptp-3(ok244)* mutants. Ig-like domains are known to be involved in signal transduction pathways that can communicate between neurons¹⁸⁰. However, there's no indication that this signaling has any interaction with AMPAR transport. This does lead to a testable model though where a forward genetic screen of the *ptp-3(ok244)* + PTP-3A N-terminal worms can be analyzed for mutations that decrease GLR-1 transport. This could possibly be the substrate that the N-terminal segment is binding and thus regulating transport.

The effect of AMPAR transport on learning and memory. *C. elegans* as a model organism is a powerful tool to study how molecular pathways can influence behavior such as learning and memory. Our results suggest that loss of PTP-3A decreases short and long-term olfactory associative memory *in vivo* in *C. elegans*. This result is what we would expect in mutants with defects in surface GLR-1. However, loss of PTP-3A does not cause a defect in associative learning. A similar phenotype has been observed in worms with a loss-of-function membrane-associated guanylate kinase (MAGI)¹¹. In *magi-1(lf)* mutants, the clustering of GLR-1 is disrupted, suggesting the efficiency of GLR-1 in regulating transmission is impaired. Since we know that GLR-1 exocytosis to the surface

is relatively independent of PTP-3A, it is possible that upon increased presynaptic input induced from associative learning, GLR-1 surface expression is normal in *ptp-3(ok244)* mutants, which could explain why learning is normal. However, it is the retention of receptors that is required to maintain memory which is why short-term memory is impaired in *ptp-3(ok244)* mutants. Since our SYD-2 results suggest that impaired localization of synaptic GLR-1 does not entirely correlate with impaired long-distance transport of GLR-1, how then does GLR-1 transport affect learning and memory? Our ptp-3(mu256) results suggest that efficient transport is sufficient for normal learning and short-term memory. Although in ptp-3(mu256) mutants there is decreased surface GLR-1 due to increased removal, the endosomal pool of receptors is normal compared to wild type. This would suggest that during consolidation into short-term memory, having a readily available supply of receptors to express on the surface can overcome the increased surface removal of GLR-1. However, this process does not seem to be sufficient for maintaining long-term associative memory and is dependent on surface retention of GLR-1 which is controlled by the phosphatase domain. This could be a direct effect of PTP-3A, i.e. retention of surface GLR-1, or an indirect effect of the phosphatase domain of PTP-3A which might be needed to regulate key proteins in the long-term memory cascade.

To my knowledge, the role that LAR has in vertebrate learning and memory is not known. However, the role of PTPδ, which is highly homologous to LAR, has been studied in learning and memory. In fact, mice lacking PTPδ have impaired spatial learning and memory. Interestingly, these mice have normal learning paradigms depending on the spatial task which suggests that PTPδ may not be involved with overall learning, but for certain spatial tasks¹⁸¹. Since RPTPs seem to have a region bias on their mechanism of

action in different neurons, it is difficult to interpret how our learning and memory results may be paralleled in vertebrates. Recently, the three main type IIa RPTPs have been deleted in mice to study their effects on synaptic function. It appears that a triple conditional knockout of the type IIa RPTPs in hippocampal neurons have no effect on AMPAR-mediated responses, but decrease NMDAR-mediated responses¹¹⁰. Although this is somewhat differing from what we observe in *C. elegans*, the authors cautioned that they were restricting their studies to AMPAR and NMDAR-mediated synaptic responses and not other forms of plasticity. Nevertheless, these RPTPs still have altered NMDAR-mediated responses, which would likely cause learning and memory defects¹⁸². Therefore, an interesting avenue of study would be to observe NMDAR properties in different *ptp-3* mutants *in vivo*.

Final model. Altogether, my work has led to a working model where PTP-3A needs to be localized at synapses, likely due to SYD-2, in order to stabilize excitatory connections. Upon postsynaptic stimulation, the extracellular matrix (ECM) undergoes structural reorganization to increase the spine size. PTP-3A's connection with ECM may be disrupted which could cause the cleavage of the ectodomain. This ectodomain could possibly act as a ligand for a signaling cascade that retrogradely signals for increased AMPAR transport. This could be a mechanism to supply activated synapses with AMPARs. The phosphatase domain, either still attached to the membrane or now disassociated, invokes a signaling mechanism that keeps receptors at the surface. This retention of receptors at the surface makes it so the synaptic connection is strengthened. Together, PTP-3A is responsible for supplying receptors to the synapse while also retaining them at the surface to maintain excitatory connections **Fig 4.1**.

My work has expanded our knowledge of the role of PTP-3A in glutamate receptor transport while also demonstrating a general importance of glutamate receptor transport on local synaptic receptor numbers. The effects of disrupted LAR-RPTP function have been identified in diseases such as autism and bipolar disorder^{138,183–185}. Mechanistically, it could be that loss of LAR-RPTPs causes a disrupted neuronal circuit that then leads to disrupted behavioral outcomes. This disruption of communication could be due to decreased glutamatergic synaptic transmission which arises from inadequate distribution of glutamate receptors and not necessarily disrupting the physical synaptic connections themselves. Thus, it is optimistic to postulate that if distribution of glutamate receptors can be rescued, then so could some of the behavioral outcomes of the diseases.



If I had to summarize my PhD with a phrase, it would be the famous quote from Thomas Edison, "I have not failed, I've just found 10,000 ways that won't work." What this dissertation does not include is the hours spent in hardship and failure but outlines the successes that could not be possible without the failures. My graduate work, much like a single synapse, may only be important for a specific connection, but it is the combination of all the synapses that contribute to a working network. Bibliography

- 1. Kandel, E. R. & Tauc, L. Mechanism of heterosynaptic facilitation in the giant cell of the abdominal ganglion of Aplysia depilans. *J. Physiol.* **181**, (1965).
- 2. Brenner, S. The genetics of Caenorhabditis elegans. *Genetics* 77, (1974).
- White, J. G., Southgate, E., Thomson, J. N. & Brenner, S. The Structure of the Nervous System of the Nematode Caenorhabditis elegans. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* **314**, 1–340 (1986).
- Ardiel, E. L. & Rankin, C. H. An elegant mind: Learning and memory in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Learning and Memory* (2010). doi:10.1101/lm.960510
- Rankin, C. H., Beck, C. D. O. & Chiba, C. M. Caenorhabditis elegans: A new model system for the study of learning and memory. *Behav. Brain Res.* 37, (1990).
- Clark, R. E. The classical origins of Pavlov's conditioning. *Integr. Physiol. Behav.* Sci. 39, (2004).
- Morrison, G. E., Wen, J. Y. M., Runciman, S. & Van Der Kooy, D. Olfactory associative learning in Caenorhabditis elegans is impaired in Irn-1 and Irn-2 mutants. *Behav. Neurosci.* **113**, (1999).
- Maricq, A. V, Peckol, E., Driscoll, M. & Bargmann, C. I. Mechanosensory signalling in C. elegans mediated by the GLR-1 glutamate receptor. *Nature* 378, 78–81 (1995).
- 9. Hoerndli, F. J. *et al.* Neuronal activity and CaMKII regulate kinesin-mediated

transport of synaptic AMPARs. Neuron 86, 457–474 (2015).

- Kano, T. *et al.* Memory in Caenorhabditis elegans Is Mediated by NMDA-Type Ionotropic Glutamate Receptors. *Curr Biol* **18**, 1010–1015 (2008).
- Stetak, A., Hörndli, F., Maricq, A. V., van den Heuvel, S. & Hajnal, A. Neuronspecific regulation of associative learning and memory by MAGI-1 in C. elegans. *PLoS One* (2009). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0006019
- Pellegrini-Giampietro, D. The GluR2 (GluR-B) hypothesis: Ca2+-permeable
 AMPA receptors in neurological disorders. *Trends Neurosci.* 20, 464–470 (1997).
- 13. Stein, G. M. & Murphy, C. T. C. elegans positive olfactory associative memory is a molecularly conserved behavioral paradigm. *Neurobiol. Learn. Mem.* **115**, (2014).
- Kauffman, A. L., Ashraf, J. M., orces-Zimmerman, M. R., Landis, J. N. & Murphy,
 C. T. Insulin signaling and dietary restriction differentially influence the decline of learning and memory with age. *PLoS Biol.* 8, (2010).
- 15. Miladinovic, T., Nashed, M. G. & Singh, G. Overview of glutamatergic dysregulation in central pathologies. *Biomolecules* **5**, 3112–3141 (2015).
- 16. Nicoll, R. A. A Brief History of Long-Term Potentiation. *Neuron* **93**, (2017).
- 17. De Bono, M. & Maricq, A. V. Neuronal substrates of complex behaviors in C. elegans. *Annual Review of Neuroscience* **28**, (2005).
- Brockie, P. J. & Maricq, A. V. Ionotropic glutamate receptors: genetics, behavior and electrophysiology. *WormBook : the online review of C. elegans biology* (2006). doi:10.1895/wormbook.1.61.1

- Rose, J. K., Kaun, K. R., Chen, S. H. & Rankin, C. H. GLR-1, a Non-NMDA Glutamate Receptor Homolog, Is Critical for Long-Term Memory in Caenorhabditis elegans. *J. Neurosci.* 23, (2003).
- 20. Citri, A. & Malenka, R. C. Synaptic plasticity: Multiple forms, functions, and mechanisms. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **33**, (2008).
- Attneave, F., B., M. & Hebb, D. O. The Organization of Behavior; A Neuropsychological Theory. *Am. J. Psychol.* 63, (1950).
- 22. Abbott, L. F. & Regehr, W. G. Synaptic computation. *Nature* **431**, (2004).
- Paoletti, P., Bellone, C. & Zhou, Q. NMDA receptor subunit diversity: Impact on receptor properties, synaptic plasticity and disease. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 14, 383–400 (2013).
- 24. Park, M. AMPA receptor trafficking for postsynaptic potentiation. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience* **12**, (2018).
- 25. Chater, T. E. & Goda, Y. The role of AMPA receptors in postsynaptic mechanisms of synaptic plasticity. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience* **8**, (2014).
- Niswender, C. M. & Conn, P. J. Metabotropic glutamate receptors: Physiology, pharmacology, and disease. *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology* 50, (2010).
- 27. Aiba, A. *et al.* Reduced hippocampal long-term potentiation and context-specific deficit in associative learning in mGluR1 mutant mice. *Cell* **79**, (1994).
- 28. Alba, A. et al. Deficient cerebellar long-term depression and impaired motor

learning in mGluR1 mutant mice. Cell 79, (1994).

- 29. Levenes, C., Daniel, H., Jaillard, D., Conquet, F. & Crépel, F. Incomplete regression of multiple climbing fibre innervation of cerebellar Purkinje cells in mGluR1 mutant mice. *Neuroreport* **8**, (1997).
- Hollmann, M. & Heinemann, S. Cloned Glutamate Receptors. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 17, 31–108 (1994).
- 31. Collingridge, G. L., Isaac, J. T. R. & Yu, T. W. Receptor trafficking and synaptic plasticity. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* **5**, 952–962 (2004).
- Greger, I. H., Akamine, P., Khatri, L. & Ziff, E. B. Developmentally Regulated, Combinatorial RNA Processing Modulates AMPA Receptor Biogenesis. *Neuron* 51, (2006).
- Hollmann, M., Hartley, M. & Heinemann, S. Ca2+ Permeability of KA-AMPA-Gated Glutamate Receptor Channels Depends on Subunit Composition. Nucleic Acids Res 50, (1985).
- 34. Hume, R. I., Dingledine, R. & Heinemann, S. F. Identification of a site in glutamate receptor subunits that controls calcium permeability. *Science (80-.).* **253**, (1991).
- Henley, J. M. & Wilkinson, K. A. Synaptic AMPA receptor composition in development, plasticity and disease. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 17, (2016).
- Nishimune, A. *et al.* NSF binding to GluR2 regulates synaptic transmission.
 Neuron 21, (1998).
- 37. Lüscher, C. et al. Role of AMPA receptor cycling in synaptic transmission and
plasticity. Neuron 24, (1999).

- Wright, A. & Vissel, B. The essential role of AMPA receptor GluA2 subunit RNA editing in the normal and diseased brain. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience* (2012). doi:10.3389/fnmol.2012.00034
- Nowak, L., Bregestovski, P., Ascher, P., Herbet, A. & Prochiantz, A. Magnesium gates glutamate-activated channels in mouse central neurones. *Nature* 307, (1984).
- 40. Mayer, M. L., Westbrook, G. L. & Guthrie, P. B. Voltage-dependent block by Mg2+ of NMDA responses in spinal cord neurones. *Nature* **309**, (1984).
- 41. Hayashi, Y. *et al.* Driving AMPA receptors into synapses by LTP and CaMKII: requirement for GluR1 and PDZ domain interaction. *Science* **287**, 2262–7 (2000).
- 42. Kennedy, M. J. & Ehlers, M. D. Mechanisms and Function of Dendritic Exocytosis. *Neuron* **69**, (2011).
- 43. Choquet, D. & Triller, A. The role of receptor diffusion in the organization of the postsynaptic membrane. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* **4**, (2003).
- Brockie, P. J., Madsen, D. M., Zheng, Y., Mellem, J. & Maricq, A. V. Differential expression of glutamate receptor subunits in the nervous system of Caenorhabditis elegans and their regulation by the homeodomain protein UNC-42. *J. Neurosci.* 21, 1510–22 (2001).
- 45. Hampel, H. *et al.* The future of Alzheimer's disease: The next 10 years. *Progress in Neurobiology* **95**, (2011).

- Grooms, S. Y. Status epilepticus decreases glutamate receptor 2 mRNA and protein expression in hippocampal pyramidal cells before neuronal death. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 97, (2000).
- Enoki, R., Hu, Y. ling, Hamilton, D. & Fine, A. Expression of Long-Term Plasticity at Individual Synapses in Hippocampus Is Graded, Bidirectional, and Mainly Presynaptic: Optical Quantal Analysis. *Neuron* 62, (2009).
- Mulkey, R. M. & Malenka, R. C. Mechanisms underlying induction of homosynaptic long-term depression in area CA1 of the hippocampus. *Neuron* 9, (1992).
- Brigman, J. L. *et al.* Loss of GluN2B-containing NMD A receptors in CA1 hippocampus and cortex impairs long-term depression, reduces dendritic spine density, and disrupts learning. *J. Neurosci.* **30**, (2010).
- Zeng, H. *et al.* Forebrain-specific calcineurin knockout selectively impairs bidirectional synaptic plasticity and working/episodic-like memory. *Cell* **107**, (2001).
- 51. Hudson, J. A., Mayhew, E. M. Y. & Prabhakar, J. *The Development of Episodic Foresight. Emerging Concepts and Methods. Advances in Child Development and Behavior* **40**, (2011).
- 52. Nicholls, R. E. *et al.* Transgenic Mice Lacking NMDAR-Dependent LTD Exhibit Deficits in Behavioral Flexibility. *Neuron* **58**, (2008).
- 53. Lea, S. E. G., Chow, P. K. Y., Leaver, L. A. & McLaren, I. P. L. Behavioral

flexibility: A review, a model, and some exploratory tests. *Learn. Behav.* **48**, (2020).

- 54. Collingridge, G. L., Peineau, S., Howland, J. G. & Wang, Y. T. Long-term depression in the CNS. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* **11**, (2010).
- 55. Rammes, G. *et al.* Activation of mGlu receptors induces LTD without affecting postsynaptic sensitivity of CA1 neurons in rat hippocampal slices. *Journal of Physiology* **546**, (2003).
- 56. Vitureira, N. & Goda, Y. The interplay between hebbian and homeostatic synaptic plasticity. *Journal of Cell Biology* **203**, (2013).
- 57. Bliss, T. V. P. & Lømo, T. Long-lasting potentiation of synaptic transmission in the dentate area of the anaesthetized rabbit following stimulation of the perforant path. *J. Physiol.* **232**, (1973).
- 58. Kelso, S. R., Ganong, A. H. & Brown, T. H. Hebbian synapses in hippocampus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **83**, (1986).
- 59. Malinow, R. & Miller, J. P. Postsynaptic hyperpolarization during conditioning reversibly blocks induction of long-term potentiation. *Nature* **320**, (1986).
- Collingridge, G. L., Kehl, S. J. & McLennan, H. Excitatory amino acids in synaptic transmission in the Schaffer collateral-commissural pathway of the rat hippocampus. *J. Physiol.* **334**, (1983).
- 61. Lisman, J., Yasuda, R. & Raghavachari, S. Mechanisms of CaMKII action in longterm potentiation. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* **13**, (2012).

- 62. Patterson, M. A., Szatmari, E. M. & Yasuda, R. AMPA receptors are exocytosed in stimulated spines and adjacent dendrites in a Ras-ERK-dependent manner during long-term potentiation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **107**, (2010).
- Diering, G. H., Heo, S., Hussain, N. K., Liu, B. & Huganir, R. L. Extensive phosphorylation of AMPA receptors in neurons. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **113**, (2016).
- 64. Esteban, J. A. *et al.* PKA phosphorylation of AMPA receptor subunits controls synaptic trafficking underlying plasticity. *Nat. Neurosci.* **6**, (2003).
- 65. Chen, L. *et al.* Stargazin regulates synaptic targeting of AMPA receptors by two distinct mechanisms. *Nature* **408**, (2000).
- 66. Groc, L. & Choquet, D. Linking glutamate receptor movements and synapse function. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* **368**, (2020).
- 67. Lledo, P. M., Zhang, X., Südhof, T. C., Malenka, R. C. & Nicoll, R. A. Postsynaptic membrane fusion and long-term potentiation. *Science (80-.).* **279**, (1998).
- Lu, W. Y. *et al.* Activation of synaptic NMDA receptors induces membrane insertion of new AMPA receptors and LTP in cultured hippocampal neurons. *Neuron* 29, (2001).
- 69. Park, M., Penick, E. C., Edwards, J. G., Kauer, J. A. & Ehlers, M. D. Recycling endosomes supply AMPA receptors for LTP. *Science (80-.).* **305**, (2004).
- 70. Wu, D. *et al.* Postsynaptic synaptotagmins mediate AMPA receptor exocytosis during LTP. *Nature* **544**, (2017).

- 71. Ehlers, M. D. Dendritic trafficking for neuronal growth and plasticity. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* **41**, (2013).
- 72. Kennedy, M. J., Davison, I. G., Robinson, C. G. & Ehlers, M. D. Syntaxin-4 defines a domain for activity-dependent exocytosis in dendritic spines. *Cell* 141, (2010).
- 73. Ehlers, M. D. Reinsertion or degradation of AMPA receptors determined by activity-dependent endocytic sorting. *Neuron* **28**, (2000).
- 74. Shepherd, J. D. & Huganir, R. L. The cell biology of synaptic plasticity: AMPA receptor trafficking. *Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology* **23**, (2007).
- Yong, A. J. H. *et al.* Tyrosine phosphorylation of the AMPA receptor subunit GluA2 gates homeostatic synaptic plasticity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **117**, (2020).
- 76. Sutton, M. A. & Schuman, E. M. Dendritic Protein Synthesis, Synaptic Plasticity, and Memory. *Cell* **127**, (2006).
- 77. Esteban, J. A. AMPA receptor trafficking: a road map for synaptic plasticity.*Molecular interventions* 3, (2003).
- Adesnik, H., Nicoll, R. A. & England, P. M. Photoinactivation of native AMPA receptors reveals their real-time trafficking. *Neuron* 48, (2005).
- 79. Chen, H. X., Otmakhov, N. & Lisman, J. Requirements for LTP induction by pairing in hippocampal CA1 pyramidal cells. *J. Neurophysiol.* **82**, (1999).
- 80. Broutman, G. & Baudry, M. Involvement of the secretory pathway for AMPA

receptors in NMDA-induced potentiation in hippocampus. J. Neurosci. 21, (2001).

- Kim, C. H. & Lisman, J. E. A labile component of AMPA receptor-mediated synaptic transmission is dependent on microtubule motors, actin, and Nethylmaleimide-sensitive factor. *J. Neurosci.* 21, (2001).
- Setou, M. *et al.* Glutamate-receptor-interacting protein GRIP1 directly steers kinesin to dendrites. *Nature* **417**, 83–87 (2002).
- Greger, I. H. & Esteban, J. A. AMPA receptor biogenesis and trafficking. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* **17**, (2007).
- Esteves da Silva, M. *et al.* Positioning of AMPA Receptor-Containing Endosomes Regulates Synapse Architecture. *Cell Rep.* **13**, (2015).
- Hoerndli, F. J. *et al.* Kinesin-1 regulates synaptic strength by mediating the delivery, removal, and redistribution of AMPA receptors. *Neuron* 80, 1421–1437 (2013).
- 86. Siddiqui, S. S. Metazoan motor models: Kinesin superfamily in C. elegans. *Traffic***3**, (2002).
- Hoerndli, F. J. *et al.* Kinesin-1 regulates synaptic strength by mediating the delivery, removal, and redistribution of AMPA receptors. *Neuron* 80, 1421–1437 (2013).
- Rongo, C. & Kaplan, J. M. CaMKII regulates the density of central giutamatergic synapses in vivo. *Nature* 402, (1999).
- 89. Hangen, E., Cordelières, F. P., Petersen, J. D., Choquet, D. & Coussen, F.

105

Neuronal Activity and Intracellular Calcium Levels Regulate Intracellular Transport of Newly Synthesized AMPAR. *Cell Rep.* **24**, 1001-1012.e3 (2018).

- 90. Gutiérrez, Y. *et al.* KIF13A drives AMPA receptor synaptic delivery for long-term potentiation via endosomal remodeling. *J. Cell Biol.* **220**, (2021).
- Ackley, B. D. The Two Isoforms of the Caenorhabditis elegans Leukocyte-Common Antigen Related Receptor Tyrosine Phosphatase PTP-3 Function Independently in Axon Guidance and Synapse Formation. *J. Neurosci.* 25, 7517– 7528 (2005).
- Pot, D. A., Woodford, T. A., Remboutsika, E., Haun, R. S. & Dixon, J. E. Cloning, bacterial expression, purification, and characterization of the cytoplasmic domain of rat LAR, a receptor-like protein tyrosine phosphatase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 266, (1991).
- Serra-Pages, C., Saito, H. & Streuli, M. Mutational analysis of proprotein processing, subunit association, and shedding of the LAR transmembrane protein tyrosine phosphatase. *J. Biol. Chem.* (1994).
- Ruhe, J. E., Streit, S., Hart, S. & Ullrich, A. EGFR signaling leads to downregulation of PTP-LAR via TACE-mediated proteolytic processing. *Cell. Signal.* (2006). doi:10.1016/j.cellsig.2005.12.003
- 95. Takahashi, H. & Craig, A. M. Protein tyrosine phosphatases PTPδ, PTPς, and LAR: Presynaptic hubs for synapse organization. *Trends in Neurosciences* 36, (2013).

- 96. Woo, J. *et al.* Trans-synaptic adhesion between NGL-3 and LAR regulates the formation of excitatory synapses. *Nat. Neurosci.* **12**, 428–437 (2009).
- Won, S. Y., Kim & Min, H. Structural Basis for LAR-RPTP–Mediated Synaptogenesis. *Mol. Cells* 41, 622–630 (2018).
- 98. Beltran, P. J. & Bixby, J. L. Receptor protein tyrosine phosphatases as mediators of cellular adhesion. *Frontiers in Bioscience* **8**, (2003).
- O'Grady, P., Thai, T. C. & Saito, H. The laminin-nidogen complex is a ligand for a specific splice isoform of the transmembrane protein tyrosine phosphatase LAR.
 J. Cell Biol. 141, (1998).
- 100. Colognato, H. & Yurchenco, P. D. Form and function: The laminin family of heterotrimers. *Developmental Dynamics* **218**, (2000).
- 101. Bilwes, A. M., Den Hertog, J., Hunter, T. & Noel, J. P. Structural basis for inhibition of receptor protein-tyrosine phosphatase-α by dimerization. *Nature* 382, (1996).
- Fox, A. N. & Zinn, K. The heparan sulfate proteoglycan Syndecan is an in vivo ligand for the Drosophila LAR receptor tyrosine phosphatase. *Curr. Biol.* 15, (2005).
- Johnson, K. G. *et al.* The HSPGs Syndecan and dallylike bind the receptor phosphatase LAR and exert distinct effects on synaptic development. *Neuron* 49, 517–531 (2006).
- 104. Harrington, R. J., Gutch, M. J., Hengartner, M. O., Tonks, N. K. & Chisholm, A. D.

The C. elegans LAR-like receptor tyrosine phosphatase PTP-3 and the VAB-1 Eph receptor tyrosine kinase have partly redundant functions in morphogenesis. *Development* **129**, 2141–53 (2002).

- 105. Hartin, S. N., Hudson, M. L., Yingling, C. & Ackley, B. D. A synthetic lethal screen identifies a role for lin-44/Wnt in C. elegans embryogenesis. *PLoS One* **10**, e0121397 (2015).
- 106. Kypta, R. M., Su, H. & Reichardt, L. F. Association between a transmembrane protein tyrosine phosphatase and the cadherin-catenin complex. *J. Cell Biol.* **134**, (1996).
- 107. Xie, X. *et al.* Structural basis of liprin-α-promoted LAR-RPTP clustering for modulation of phosphatase activity. *Nat. Commun.* **11**, (2020).
- 108. Hoogenraad, C. C. *et al.* Liprin\$α\$1 Degradation by Calcium/Calmodulin-Dependent Protein Kinase II Regulates LAR Receptor Tyrosine Phosphatase Distribution and Dendrite Development. *Dev. Cell* **12**, 587–602 (2007).
- 109. Wyszynski, M. *et al.* Interaction between GRIP and liprin-α/SYD2 is required for AMPA receptor targeting. *Neuron* (2002). doi:10.1016/S0896-6273(02)00640-2
- 110. Sclip, A. & Südhof, T. C. LAR receptor phospho-tyrosine phosphatases regulate NMDA-receptor responses. *Elife* **9**, (2020).
- 111. Emperador-Melero, J., de Nola, G. & Kaeser, P. S. Intact synapse structure and function after combined knockout of ptpδ, ptpσ, and lar. *Elife* **10**, (2021).
- 112. Mitchell, C. J. et al. Unbiased identification of substrates of protein tyrosine

phosphatase ptp-3 in C. elegans. *Mol. Oncol.* **10**, (2016).

- Doser, R. L., Amberg, G. C. & Hoerndli, F. J. Reactive Oxygen Species Modulate Activity-Dependent AMPA Receptor Transport in C. elegans. *J. Neurosci.* 40, JN-RM-0902-20 (2020).
- 114. Hoerndli, F. J. *et al.* Neuronal activity and CaMKII regulate kinesin-mediated transport of synaptic AMPARs. *Neuron* **86**, 457–474 (2015).
- 115. Tan, H. L., Chiu, S. L., Zhu, Q. & Huganir, R. L. GRIP1 regulates synaptic plasticity and learning and memory. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **117**, 25085– 25091 (2020).
- 116. Gladding, C. M. *et al.* Tyrosine dephosphorylation regulates AMPAR internalisation in mGluR-LTD. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* **40**, 267–279 (2009).
- 117. Lua, W., Isozaki, K., Roche, K. W. & Nicoll, R. A. Synaptic targeting of AMPA receptors is regulated by a CaMKII site in the first intracellular loop of GluA1. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **107**, 22266–22271 (2010).
- 118. Tan, H. L., Chiu, S.-L., Zhu, Q. & Huganir, R. L. GRIP1 regulates synaptic plasticity and learning and memory. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 202014827 (2020). doi:10.1073/pnas.2014827117
- Dunah, A. W. *et al.* LAR receptor protein tyrosine phosphatases in the development and maintenance of excitatory synapses. *Nat. Neurosci.* 8, 458–467 (2005).
- 120. Shin, H. et al. Association of the kinesin motor KIF1A with the multimodular

protein liprin-α. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 11393–11401 (2003).

- 121. Setou, M. *et al.* Glutamate-receptor-interacting protein GRIP1 directly steers kinesin to dendrites. *Nature* **417**, 83–87 (2002).
- 122. Miller, K. E. *et al.* Direct observation demonstrates that Liprin-α is required for trafficking of synaptic vesicles. *Curr. Biol.* **15**, 684–689 (2005).
- 123. Coles, C. H., Jones, E. Y. & Aricescu, A. R. Extracellular regulation of type IIa receptor protein tyrosine phosphatases: Mechanistic insights from structural analyses. *Seminars in Cell and Developmental Biology* **37**, 98–107 (2015).
- 124. Kolkman, M. J. M. *et al.* Mice lacking leukocyte common antigen-related (LAR) protein tyrosine phosphatase domains demonstrate spatial learning impairment in the two-trial water maze and hyperactivity in multiple behavioural tests. *Behav. Brain Res.* (2004). doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2004.02.006
- 125. Uetani, N. Impaired learning with enhanced hippocampal long-term potentiation in PTPdelta-deficient mice. *EMBO J.* **19**, 2775–2785 (2000).
- 126. Ackley, B. D. *et al.* The two isoforms of the Caenorhabditis elegans leukocytecommon antigen related receptor tyrosine phosphatase PTP-3 function independently in axon guidance and synapse formation. *J. Neurosci.* **25**, 7517– 7528 (2005).
- 127. Caylor, R. C., Jin, Y. & Ackley, B. D. The Caenorhabditis elegans voltage-gated calcium channel subunits UNC-2 and UNC-36 and the calcium-dependent kinase UNC-43/CaMKII regulate neuromuscular junction morphology. *Neural Dev.* 8, 10

(2013).

- 128. Dai, Y. *et al.* SYD-2 Liprin-α organizes presynaptic active zone formation through ELKS. *Nat. Neurosci.* **9**, 1479–1487 (2006).
- 129. Hoogenraad, C. C. *et al.* Liprinα1 Degradation by Calcium/Calmodulin-Dependent Protein Kinase II Regulates LAR Receptor Tyrosine Phosphatase Distribution and Dendrite Development. *Dev. Cell* **12**, 587–602 (2007).
- Kennedy, M. J., Davison, I. G., Robinson, C. G. & Ehlers, M. D. Syntaxin-4 defines a domain for activity-dependent exocytosis in dendritic spines. *Cell* 141, 524–535 (2010).
- 131. Morrison, G. E. & van der Kooy, D. A mutation in the AMPA-type glutamate receptor, glr-1, blocks olfactory associative and nonassociative learning in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Behav. Neurosci.* **115**, 640–649 (2001).
- 132. Hadziselimovic, N. *et al.* Forgetting is regulated via Musashi-mediated translational control of the Arp2/3 complex. *Cell* **156**, 1153–1166 (2014).
- 133. Hoerndli, F. J. F. J. *et al.* A conserved function of C. elegans CASY-1 calsyntenin in associative learning. *PLoS One* **4**, (2009).
- 134. Wen, J. Y. *et al.* Mutations that prevent associative learning in C. elegans. *Behav. Neurosci.* **111**, 354–368 (1997).
- 135. Burbea, M., Dreier, L., Dittman, J. S., Grunwald, M. E. & Kaplan, J. M. Ubiquitin and AP180 regulate the abundance of GLR-1 glutamate receptors at postsynaptic elements in C. elegans. *Neuron* **35**, 107–120 (2002).

- 136. Yang, T. *et al.* Leukocyte antigen-related protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor: A small ectodomain isoform functions as a homophilic ligand and promotes neurite outgrowth. *J. Neurosci.* 23, 3353–3363 (2003).
- 137. Lin, S. Computer Solutions of the Traveling Salesman Problem. *Bell Syst. Tech.J.* 44, 2245–2269 (1965).
- Um, J. W. & Ko, J. LAR-RPTPs: Synaptic adhesion molecules that shape synapse development. *Trends in Cell Biology* 23, 465–475 (2013).
- 139. Han, K. A., Um, J. W. & Ko, J. Intracellular protein complexes involved in synapse assembly in presynaptic neurons. in *Advances in Protein Chemistry and Structural Biology* **116**, 347–373 (Academic Press, 2019).
- Streuli, M. *et al.* Expression of the receptor-linked protein tyrosine phosphatase
 LAR: proteolytic cleavage and shedding of the CAM-like extracellular region.
 EMBO J. (1992). doi:10.1002/j.1460-2075.1992.tb05128.x
- Serra-Pagès, C. *et al.* The LAR transmembrane protein tyrosine phosphatase and a coiled-coil LAR-interacting protein co-localize at focal adhesions. *EMBO J.* 14, 2827–2838 (1995).
- 142. Aicher, B., Lerch, M. M., Müller, T., Schilling, J. & Ullrich, A. Cellular redistribution of protein tyrosine phosphatases LAR and PTPσ by inducible proteolytic processing. *J. Cell Biol.* **138**, 681–696 (1997).
- 143. Takahashi, H. *et al.* Postsynaptic TrkC and presynaptic PTPσ function as a bidirectional excitatory synaptic organizing complex. *Neuron* **69**, 287–303 (2011).

- 144. Kim, W. H., Watanabe, H., Lomoio, S. & Tesco, G. Spatiotemporal processing of neural cell adhesion molecules 1 and 2 by BACE1 in vivo. *J. Biol. Chem.* 296, 100372 (2021).
- 145. Won, S. & Roche, K. W. Regulation of glutamate receptors by striatal-enriched tyrosine phosphatase 61 (STEP61). *J. Physiol.* **599**, 443–451 (2021).
- 146. Serra-Pagès, C., Medley, Q. G., Tang, M., Hart, A. & Streuli, M. Liptins, a family of LAR transmembrane protein-tyrosine phosphatase- interacting proteins. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273, 15611–15620 (1998).
- 147. Emtage, L., Chang, H., Tiver, R. & Rongo, C. MAGI-1 modulates AMPA receptor synaptic localization and behavioral plasticity in response to prior experience. *PLoS One* **4**, (2009).
- Lynch, A. M. *et al.* A Genome-wide Functional Screen Shows MAGI-1 Is an L1CAM-Dependent Stabilizer of Apical Junctions in C. elegans. *Curr Biol* 22, 1891–1899 (2012).
- 149. Dillon, J., Holden-Dye, L. & O'Connor, V. Yeast two-hybrid screening identifies MPZ-1 and PTP-1 as candidate scaffolding proteins of metabotropic glutamate receptors in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Invertebr. Neurosci.* **18**, 1–12 (2018).
- 150. Debant, A. *et al.* The multidomain protein Trio binds the LAR transmembrane tyrosine phosphatase, contains a protein kinase domain, and has separate racspecific and rho-specific guanine nucleotide exchange factor domains. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **93**, 5466–5471 (1996).

- 151. Williams, S. L. *et al.* Trio's Rho-specific GEF domain is the missing Gαq effector in C. elegans. *Genes Dev.* **21**, 2731–2746 (2007).
- 152. Juo, P., Harbaugh, T., Garriga, G. & Kaplan, J. M. CDK-5 regulates the abundance of GLR-1 glutamate receptors in the ventral cord of Caenorhabditis elegans. *Mol. Biol. Cell* **18**, 3883–3893 (2007).
- 153. Shah, K. & Rossie, S. Tale of the Good and the Bad Cdk5: Remodeling of the Actin Cytoskeleton in the Brain. *Mol. Neurobiol.* **55**, 3426–3438 (2018).
- 154. Kobayashi, H. *et al.* Phosphorylation of Cyclin-dependent kinase 5 (Cdk5) at Tyr15 is inhibited by Cdk5 activators and does not contribute to the activation of
 Cdk5. *J. Biol. Chem.* 289, 19627–19636 (2014).
- 155. Hoogenraad, C. C., Milstein, A. D., Ethell, I. M., Henkemeyer, M. & Sheng, M. GRIP1 controls dendrite morphogenesis by regulating EphB receptor trafficking. *Nat. Neurosci.* 8, 906–15 (2005).
- Hirbec, H. *et al.* Rapid and differential regulation of AMPA and kainate receptors at hippocampal mossy fibre synapses by PICK1 and GRIP. *Neuron* **37**, 625–638 (2003).
- 157. Callender, J. A. & Newton, A. C. Conventional protein kinase C in the brain: 40 years later. *Neuronal Signal.* **1**, (2017).
- 158. Padamsey, Z. *et al.* Activity-Dependent Exocytosis of Lysosomes Regulates the Structural Plasticity of Dendritic Spines. *Neuron* **93**, 132–146 (2016).
- 159. Chen, H., Roth, R. H., Lopez-Ortega, E., Tan, H. L. & Huganir, R. L. AMPA

Receptors Exist in Tunable Mobile and Immobile Synaptic Fractions In Vivo . *Eneuro* **8**, ENEURO.0015-21.2021 (2021).

- Volk, L., Chiu, S. L., Sharma, K. & Huganir, R. L. Glutamate Synapses in Human Cognitive Disorders. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 38, 127–149 (2015).
- Huganir, R. L. & Nicoll, R. A. AMPARs and synaptic plasticity: The last 25 years.
 Neuron (2013). doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2013.10.025
- Vukojevic, V. *et al.* Evolutionary conserved role of neural cell adhesion molecule-1 in memory. *Transl. Psychiatry* **10**, (2020).
- Vukojevic, V. *et al.* A role for alpha-adducin (ADD-1) in nematode and human memory. *EMBO J* 31, 1453–1466 (2012).
- 164. Stiernagle, T. Maintenance of C. elegans. *WormBook* 1–11 (2006).doi:10.1895/wormbook.1.101.1
- 165. Bargmann, C. I., Hartwieg, E. & Horvitz, H. R. Odorant-selective genes and neurons mediate olfaction in C. elegans. *Cell* **74**, (1993).
- 166. Dabrowski, A. & Umemori, H. Orchestrating the synaptic network by tyrosine phosphorylation signalling. *Journal of Biochemistry* **149**, (2011).
- 167. Zhen, M. & Jin, Y. The liprin protein SYD-2 regulates the differentiation of presynaptic termini in C. elegans. *Nature* (1999). doi:10.1038/43889
- 168. Grunwald, M. E., Mellem, J. E., Strutz, N., Maricq, A. V & Kaplan, J. M. Clathrinmediated endocytosis is required for compensatory regulation of GLR-1 glutamate receptors after activity blockade. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **101**, 3190–3195

(2004).

- Zhang, L., Ward, J. D., Cheng, Z. & Dernburg, A. F. The auxin-inducible degradation (AID) system enables versatile conditional protein depletion in C. elegans. *Dev.* 142, (2015).
- 170. Shin, H. *et al.* Association of the kinesin motor KIF1A with the multimodular protein liprin-\$α\$. *J. Biol. Chem.* **278**, 11393–11401 (2003).
- 171. Hammond, J. W. *et al.* Mammalian Kinesin-3 motors are dimeric in vivo and move by processive motility upon release of autoinhibition. *PLoS Biol.* **7**, (2009).
- 172. Chiba, K. *et al.* Disease-associated mutations hyperactivate KIF1A motility and anterograde axonal transport of synaptic vesicle precursors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **116**, (2019).
- 173. Kittelmann, M. *et al.* Liprin-α/SYD-2 determines the size of dense projections in presynaptic active zones in C. elegans. *J. Cell Biol.* **203**, 849 (2013).
- 174. Dunah, A. W. *et al.* LAR receptor protein tyrosine phosphatases in the development and maintenance of excitatory synapses. *Nat. Neurosci.* **8**, (2005).
- 175. Murase, S., Mosser, E. & Schuman, E. M. Depolarization drives β-catenin into neuronal spines promoting changes in synaptic structure and function. *Neuron* **35**, (2002).
- Scholz, R. *et al.* AMPA Receptor Signaling through BRAG2 and Arf6 Critical for Long-Term Synaptic Depression. *Neuron* 66, (2010).
- 177. Hayashi, T. & Huganir, R. L. Tyrosine phosphorylation and regulation of the

AMPA receptor by Src family tyrosine kinases. *J. Neurosci.* **24**, 6152–6160 (2004).

- Brockie, P. J. & Maricq, A. V. Ionotropic glutamate receptors in caenorhabditis elegans. *NeuroSignals* 12, 108–125 (2003).
- Doser, R. L., Amberg, G. C. & Hoerndli, F. J. Reactive oxygen species modulate activity-dependent AMPA receptor transport in C. Elegans. *J. Neurosci.* 40, (2020).
- Zinn, K. & Özkan, E. Neural immunoglobulin superfamily interaction networks.
 Current Opinion in Neurobiology 45, (2017).
- Uetani, N. Impaired learning with enhanced hippocampal long-term potentiation in PTPdelta-deficient mice. *EMBO J.* **19**, 2775–2785 (2000).
- 182. Rezvani, A. H. Involvement of the NMDA system in learning and memory. in *Animal Models of Cognitive Impairment* (2006). doi:10.1201/9781420004335.ch4
- Malhotra, D. *et al.* High frequencies of de novo cnvs in bipolar disorder and schizophrenia. *Neuron* 72, 951–963 (2011).
- Schormair, B. *et al.* PTPRD (protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type delta) is associated with restless legs syndrome. *Nat. Genet.* **40**, 946–948 (2008).
- 185. Yoshida, T. *et al.* IL-1 receptor accessory protein-like 1 associated with mental retardation and autism mediates synapse formation by trans-synaptic interaction with protein tyrosine phosphatase δ. *J. Neurosci.* **31**, 13485–13499 (2011).